Time to Move: Osteoarthritis

A national strategy to reduce a costly burden



Arthritis Australia March 2014



TIME TO MOVE: ARTHRITIS

The Time to Move strategy provides a road map for improving care across Australia for people with arthritis.

The strategy is supported by three additional documents which respectively address the care of people with osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis:

Time to Move: Osteoarthritis;

Time to Move: Rheumatoid Arthritis; and

Time to Move: Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis.

These documents are available at www.arthritisaustralia.com.au

What is arthritis?

Arthritis is an umbrella term for a range of conditions that affects the joints.

There are over 100 different types of arthritis affecting people of all ages including children. The most common types are osteoarthritis (OA), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and, in children, juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA).

Osteoarthritis

OA is a degenerative joint disease that affects 1.9 million Australians. Although often referred to as "wear and tear" arthritis, OA is a disease and not an inevitable part of the ageing process.

Rheumatoid arthritis

RA is a serious, chronic, inflammatory autoimmune condition that can occur at any age. Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment can prevent much of the joint damage, deformity and disability associated with RA.

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis

JIA is an inflammatory autoimmune condition that affects around 5000 Australian children. If not treated quickly and appropriately, it can seriously affect the growth and development of a child, causing severe joint damage, growth abnormalities and permanent disability.

Acknowledgements

Arthritis ACT Arthritis New South Wales Arthritis Northern Territory Arthritis Queensland Arthritis South Australia Arthritis Tasmania Arthritis Victoria Arthritis Western Australia

AbbVie provided an educational grant to Arthritis Australia to support the Arthritis Australia Models of Care Steering Group meetings and the development of the 'Time To Move' White Paper. AbbVie was represented at the steering committee meetings and contributed to the evidence review and development of the White Paper. With over 10 years dedicated experience in rheumatology, AbbVie has been a long-term supporter and partner with the arthritis community in Australia working towards delivering quality education, information and total health outcomes for Australians living with rheumatoid arthritis.

Table of contents

Ex	Executive summary	
1.	Introduction	4
2.	Background	5
	2.1 About OA	5
	2.2 Impact of OA in Australia	5
3.	The patient journey	6
	3.1 Risk factors and prevention	6
	3.1.1 Excess weight and obesity	6
	3.1.2 Joint injury	7
	3.1.3 Occupational overuse	8
	3.1.4 Other risk factors	9
	3.2 Early detection and diagnosis	10
	3.3 Early treatment	11
	3.3.1 Conservative management	11
	Information, education and support for self-management	12
	Exercise	13
	Weight loss	13
	Physical therapy	14
	Other non-pharmacological conservative therapies	14
	Pharmacological interventions	14
	Complementary and alternative medicine	15
	3.3.2 Surgical interventions	15
	3.4 Ongoing management	16
	3.4.1 Multidisciplinary care	16
	3.4.2 Comorbidities	17
	3.5 Advanced-stage care	18
	3.5.1 Joint replacement surgery	18
	3.5.2 Aged Care	20
	3.5.3 Disability support	20

4.	Australian health care environment	21
	4.1 Supporting multidisciplinary care in Australia	21
	4.2 Workforce	21
	4.3 Services in regional and rural services	22
	4.4 Disadvantaged groups	22
5.	Existing models of care for OA	23
	5.1 The Chronic Care Model	23
	5.2 Osteoarthritis Hip and Knee Service	23
	5.3 Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program	23
	5.4 Orthopaedic Physiotherapy Screening Clinic and Multidisciplinary Service	24
	5.5 Service Model for Community-Based Musculoskeletal Health	24
	5.6 UK Department of Health Musculoskeletal Services Framework	24
6.	Stakeholder consultations	25
7.	Conclusion	26
8.	Recommendations	26
9.	Priorities and implementation	27
References		28

1

Executive summary

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a highly prevalent, disabling and costly condition that affects 1.9 million or one in 12 Australians. OA is one of the leading causes of chronic pain, disability and lost productivity in Australia, costing the health system \$3.75 billion and the economy around \$22 billion annually.

The burden of OA is expected to increase exponentially in coming decades due to an ageing and increasingly obese population, with prevalence expected to reach three million Australians by 2032. Up to 70 per cent of OA is preventable by avoiding excess weight gain and joint injuries.

Yet current management of OA in Australia is yielding poor results. Two thirds of people with OA report they are faring badly with their condition,¹ 57 per cent do not receive appropriate care according to current guidelines² and most GPs report dissatisfaction with the care they are able to provide to people with OA.³

A key discrepancy between clinical practice guidelines and care for people with OA in Australia is the poor uptake of non-pharmacological conservative management options, especially exercise and weight loss, in primary health care.

At present there is no nationally adopted conservative management model for OA in primary health care, and evidence relating to optimal methods for delivering such care is scant.⁴ Recent efforts in Australia to improve the management of people on specialist outpatient and elective surgery waiting lists have shown that substantial benefits can flow from increased access to conservative management for people with OA. Currently, these models are focused on people with advanced OA and are delivered mostly in hospital environments. Even greater benefits may accrue from adapting this model to improve the uptake of conservative management through community-based services earlier in the course of the disease.

There is substantial scope to improve the management of OA in Australia so as to alleviate the personal, social and economic burden of the condition. To achieve this, a paradigm shift is required in the design and delivery of health services for people with OA, from the current mainly palliative disease management approach to one that supports improved management at every stage of the patient journey.

This paper outlines a model of care for people with OA designed to improve patient outcomes and reduce the personal, social and economic burdens associated with the condition by addressing every stage of the patient journey, from prevention though to managing advanced disease.

Model of care

This model of care recommends a hierarchy of management for people with or at risk of OA that begins with primary prevention, supports conservative non-pharmacological modalities such as exercise and weight loss for mild disease, and progresses to pharmacological management with analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), and surgery (joint replacements) for advanced disease when other therapies are no longer effective.



Figure 1: Model of care for OA (adapted from OACCP⁴)

The objectives of the national model of care will be to deliver the following key elements of care for people with OA:

- primary prevention of OA through population-based strategies, to promote healthy lifestyles, reduce overweight and obesity, and prevent joint injury;
- early diagnosis and initiation of conservative management in primary care, including advice and access to programs to support exercise, weight loss and self-management;
- the provision of appropriate information, education and support for self-management at all stages of the condition;
- access to appropriate evidence-based nonpharmacological and pharmacological therapies in line with individual needs;
- access to integrated, coordinated multidisciplinary team care, delivered in community-based multidisciplinary arthritis clinics by appropriately skilled practitioners for more complex and advanced cases;
- timely and equitable access to appropriate surgery; and
- access to disability support services, in line with individual needs.

Recommendations

- 1. Develop and implement strategies to increase awareness and understanding of OA, including opportunities for prevention and improved management of the condition, by the public, health professionals and policymakers
- 2. Develop and implement strategies to support the prevention of OA
 - 2.1 Work with organisations active in the prevention of obesity and chronic disease and those delivering healthy lifestyle, physical activity and sporting programs to incorporate messaging and programs that relate to OA prevention and management
 - 2.2 Work with sporting organisations to implement a national sports injury prevention program

3. Support improved management and continuity of care for people with OA in primary care

- 3.1 Develop and implement education, information and incentive strategies for GPs and other primary-care practitioners to promote conservative management (especially exercise and weight loss) for people with OA
- 3.2 Increase the utilisation of nurses in general practice, physiotherapists and pharmacists to support ongoing management and continuity of care for people with OA, including education and support for self-management
- 3.3 Work with Medicare Locals to build local workforce capacity and develop local referral pathways for access to effective community-based lifestyle counselling, exercise and weight loss programs
- 3.4 Develop and/or promote existing tools (e.g. cdmNet, Health Pathways, Map of Medicine) to improve access for GPs and other health practitioners to information and resources that support appropriate diagnosis and management of OA, provide referral pathways and include guides to local services
- 3.5 Prepare and promote a joint position statement from stakeholder organisations on the use of arthroscopies in the diagnosis and management of OA in both clinician and consumer versions

4. Improve information, education and support for people with OA that assist them in selfmanaging their condition

- 4.1 Develop a comprehensive information package and tools to help people with OA better understand their condition and its treatment, navigate their way around available services and coordinate their own care
- 4.2 Promote the referral of people with OA to MyJointPain.org.au and to state and territory arthritis organisations for access to information resources, self-management education and peer support groups
- 4.3 Tailor and adapt existing information resources and self-management courses to cater for the

needs of specific groups, such as those from CALD backgrounds, and promote these through relevant organisations and community groups

5. Improve care and support for people at more advanced stages of disease and with more complex needs

- 5.1 In collaboration with Medicare Locals and other stakeholders, establish communitybased multidisciplinary arthritis clinics and teams to provide public and private services that incorporate orthopaedic triage and offer conservative management strategies,
- 5.2 Develop system incentives/funding models to support the delivery of multidisciplinary care to people with OA in the private sector, including increased access to Medicare-subsidised allied health visits under Chronic Disease Management items, in line with clinical requirements
- 5.3 Provide services in rural/underserviced areas through multidisciplinary outreach clinics, with additional support offered via telehealth services
- 5.4 Work with disability and aged care service providers and the NDIS to ensure appropriate access to programs and services that support independence and fuller participation in life for people with OA-related functional limitations
- 5.5 Undertake research into optimising patient selection and timing for joint replacement surgery, interventions to address poor prognostic factors, and the most appropriate ways of managing the condition in people for whom surgery is unsuitable.

Priorities and implementation

The following priority areas for action have been identified by the Steering Committee as offering the greatest scope for reducing the burden of OA, and being the most feasible in the short term:

- implementation of a sports injury prevention program;
- strategies to improve continuity of care for people with OA in primary care, with an initial focus on increasing the utilisation of nurses in general practice;
- developing a joint position statement on arthroscopies for OA; and
- optimising patient selection and timing for joint replacement surgery.

Implementation of these recommendations will require collaboration between stakeholders across all sectors of the health system, as well as the aged care and disability sectors. Arthritis Australia will work with relevant stakeholders to encourage and support the implementation of the Time to Move strategy.

1. Introduction

The **Time to Move** strategy provides a road map for improving the care of people with osteoarthritis (OA), rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis across Australia.

This document outlines an optimal model of care for the management of OA. The intention of the model of care is to identify key elements of best-practice treatment and support for people with OA, recognising that local delivery models will vary across Australia depending on existing systems and resources.

A 'patient journey' framework was used to develop the model. Examining the patient journey across the continuum of care, from wellness through to advanced disease, provides an accepted framework for considering how clinical and support services can be reorganised and improved to achieve high-quality patient-centred care. In this paper, consideration of the patient journey has been expanded to consider factors within the broader context of the Australian health care environment, so as to identify community, systemic and health workforce issues that affect the provision of care. A number of local and international guidelines, recommendations, standards of care and models of care informed the development of this model; they included:

- National Service Improvement Framework for Osteoarthritis, Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoporosis⁵
- Conservative OA management guidelines from international groups including the Osteoarthritis Research Society International
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) Clinical guidelines for the non-surgical management of osteoarthritis 2009
- Osteoarthritis Chronic Care program Model of Care, NSW⁴
- Osteoarthritis Hip and Knee Service (OAHKS), Victoria
- Orthopaedic Physiotherapy Screening Clinic and Multidisciplinary Service (OPSC & MDS), Queensland
- Service model for community-based musculoskeletal health in Western Australia 2013, Department of Health Western Australia⁶
- Eumusc.net 2013 Standards of Care for people with Osteoarthritis

In addition, a series of stakeholder consultations was held around the country between August and November 2013 to inform the development of the model.

2. Background

2.1 About OA

OA is a degenerative disease that affects the whole joint – including bone, cartilage, ligaments and muscles – and leads to a gradual decline in health, physical function and wellbeing. It causes pain, stiffness, immobility and muscle wasting, and is a leading cause of disability worldwide. OA is more common in women than in men and although it can occur at any age, incidence increases with age.

There is currently no cure for OA so treatment and management focus on relieving pain and reducing symptoms.

2.2 Impact of OA in Australia

OA is highly prevalent, disabling and costly, and affects more than 1.9 million Australians.⁷ Because many people with OA remain undiagnosed, the real figure may be up to three million people.⁸ OA is the most common form of arthritis by far, accounting for over half of all cases of arthritis in Australia. Although the condition is more common among older people, it can occur at any age, and more than half of people with OA are of working age.⁹

Arthritis, of which OA is the most prevalent form, is one of the leading causes of chronic pain and disability in Australia. Nearly 600,000 Australians, or 15 per cent of all those who report a disability, are disabled by arthritis, with one in four of these experiencing severe or profound limitations on physical activity.¹⁰

In addition, arthritis is a leading cause of workplace disability and lost productivity in Australia. More than 80,000 people aged 45-64 years can't work because of their arthritis at an estimated loss to GDP of \$9.4 billion a year.¹¹ Arthritis accounts for 40 per cent of the annual loss in workforce participation in Australia due to chronic disease, higher than all other chronic diseases. It also accounts for 24 per cent of the loss due to absenteeism.¹³ For OA specifically, work disability is common after the age of 50 years, and OA is a leading cause of early retirement. One in two people with OA aged between 45 and 64 years is no longer in the workforce, compared to one in four without the condition.¹⁴ Expenditure on OA in 2012 was estimated to be \$3.75 billion⁷ with over half of these costs arising from joint replacements. The cost of hip and knee replacements alone is increasing by more than \$80 million a year.¹⁵ Costs to the aged-care and welfare systems through disability support and carer payments are also substantial.

The total economic cost of OA in 2012, including productivity losses and loss of wellbeing, was estimated to be around \$22 billion.⁷

The burden of OA is expected to increase exponentially in coming decades due to an ageing and increasingly obese population, with prevalence expected to reach three million Australians by 2032.⁷

3.1 Risk factors and prevention

The causes of OA and the pain associated with it are not well understood, but a number of biomechanical, genetic, behavioural and environmental factors are involved.⁵ In particular, contrary to public perception, OA is not an inevitable consequence of ageing that must be endured⁵ and much can be done to prevent or better manage the condition so as to reduce its prevalence and impact. Strategies to increase public awareness of the risk factors for OA and what can be done to prevent it, and to address major risk factors at the population level, are essential steps towards reducing the burden of OA in Australia.

The most important modifiable risk factors for OA are excess weight and obesity, joint injury, and certain repetitive joint-loading occupational activities. A substantial proportion of OA could be prevented at the population level by implementing programs that reduce these risks.

3.1.1 Excess weight and obesity

Excess weight is the most important modifiable risk factor associated with the development and progression of OA. The impact of excess weight on OA risk is likely to be both mechanical (due to increased joint loading) and systemic (a result of metabolic and inflammatory factors).¹⁶

Obese people are 2.6 times as likely to have OA as people of healthy weight.¹⁷ The risk of developing OA rises as excess body weight increases, and the earlier in life a person gains excess weight, the greater that person's risk of developing OA.¹⁸

The association is strongest for OA of the knee, in which each additional unit of weight gain results in a fourfold increase in joint loading.¹⁹ Being overweight doubles a person's risk of developing knee OA, while obesity increases the risk fourfold.²⁰ The risk for people who are very obese is up to 14 times that of people of normal weight.¹⁸ Each five kilograms of weight gain increases the risk by 36 per cent.²¹

Obesity also leads to a modest increase in the risk of developing hip OA²² and, possibly, OA of the hand.²³

In 2008, it was estimated that one in four people with OA in Australia, or more than 420,000 people, had developed OA as a result of obesity.²⁴

In addition to increasing the risk of developing OA, obesity adversely affects outcomes for people at every stage of the disease. Persistent obesity aggravates the pain and disability associated with OA, accelerates disease progression and raises the likelihood of requiring joint replacement.¹⁸ An Australian study found that greater weight and body mass index at age 18 to 21 years that persisted into middle age was associated with an increased risk of 25 per cent for knee replacement and 11 per cent for hip replacement.²⁵ In older women, obesity can increase the likelihood of needing knee replacement tenfold.²⁶ In the US, which has the highest rates of obesity in the world, there is evidence that diagnoses of knee OA are increasing, as are joint replacement rates, and that joint replacements are being required at earlier ages, with obesity suggested as the major contributing factor.²⁷

Obesity also leads to poorer outcomes from joint replacement surgery and accelerates implant failure, increasing the need for repeated operations. Nearly half of obese patients undergoing joint replacement surgery have poor outcomes, compared to less than 10 per cent of those of normal weight.¹⁸

The implications for Australia, which has one of the highest rates of overweight and obese citizens in the world, are sobering. Currently, two in three adults and one in four children in Australia are overweight or obese, up 12 per cent and 18 per cent respectively since 1995.²⁸ Rising numbers of overweight and obese people, increases in obesity at earlier ages, and increases in the number of people who are very obese²⁸ are expected to lead to higher prevalence, earlier onset and greater severity of OA (especially of the knee) in the future. This is likely to drive an exponential increase in joint replacement procedures and in associated costs to the health system.

Effective interventions

Primary prevention of obesity is complex and challenging, but could achieve substantial reductions in the prevalence of knee and hip OA as well as other chronic conditions.

The comprehensive obesity control strategy recommended by the National Preventative Health Task Force (NPHTF) in 2009 outlines an integrated, multi-sectoral approach to addressing the main drivers of obesity, based on the best available evidence at the time. The NPHTF strategy includes a number of key recommendations:

- Build the evidence base through research, monitoring and surveillance.
- Drive changes to the physical environment (e.g. through urban planning and design) to facilitate and support increased physical activity and a reduction in sedentary behaviour
- Drive changes in the food supply to support healthier food choices, including better food labelling, food reformulation and improved access to healthier foods
- Embed physical activity and healthy eating in everyday life through setting-based interventions in communities, schools and workplaces
- Encourage people to improve their levels of physical activity and healthy eating through social marketing and public education campaigns
- Restrict the marketing and promotion of unhealthy foods and beverages to children
- Strengthen primary health care's capacity to advise and support people in adopting healthier lifestyles and achieving and maintaining a healthy weight
- Implement targeted programs to address higherrisk groups, such as disadvantaged and indigenous Australians.²⁹

An assessment of the cost-effectiveness of a number of obesity interventions found that policy and regulatory approaches were generally more cost-effective than health promotions or clinical interventions. A number of the interventions assessed, including implementing a tax on unhealthy food and beverages, front-of-pack nutrition labelling, restricting unhealthy food advertising to children, and school-based interventions, were deemed not just cost-effective but cost-saving; i.e. the costs saved were in excess of the costs of implementation.³⁰ Some of the NPHTF recommendations are being implemented to varying degrees³¹ but it is unclear whether political commitment to implement them more fully will be ongoing.

Greater efforts to act on these recommendations – and to improve awareness of the link between excess weight/ obesity and increased risk of OA – are required.

What could be achieved?

Even a small loss of weight can reduce a person's risk of developing OA. Weight loss of just seven per cent in obese individuals without knee OA has been shown to improve knee structure³², while losing five kilograms of excess weight has been estimated to reduce the risk of developing knee OA, especially in women, by around 50 per cent.^{21,33}

It has been estimated that preventing obesity at the population level could reduce the prevalence of symptomatic knee OA in Australia by 43 per cent, and of knee OA requiring joint replacement by 53 per cent.²⁰ Halving knee replacements would result in an annual saving to the health system (at 2012 rates) of nearly \$600 million.

3.1.2 Joint injury

Sports-related joint injury is a major modifiable risk factor for developing OA.

Around 5.2 million Australians suffer sports-related injuries each year, at an estimated cost of \$2 billion annually. Injuries are most common in those aged between 18 and 24, with the most common injuries being injuries to the knee.³⁴

Knee injury is the most important modifiable risk factor for knee OA in men, and is second only to obesity in women.³⁵ A person who suffers a knee injury is four to five times more likely to develop knee OA than someone who does not.^{17,36} In particular, ruptures of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL), a major supporting ligament in the knee, are linked to OA changes in 50 to 70 per cent of patients 10 to 15 years following the injury.³⁷

It is estimated that 25 per cent of incident symptomatic knee OA in men and 14 per cent in women could be prevented by preventing knee injuries.³⁸

Most ACL injuries occur in adolescents and young adults, with the result that many people develop OA at a relatively early age (30 to 50 years old), with associated pain and disability. Sports and occupational activities that involve pivoting are especially implicated. Young women are at three to five times greater risk of ACL injury than men³⁹ although, as men tend to play sports with higher ACL injury risk, overall incidence of ACL injury is higher in men.⁴⁰ In Australia, team ball sports, especially Australian Rules football, rugby, soccer and netball, have been identified as potential targets for injury prevention programs because of their comparatively high rates of overall and significant injury.^{40,41}

In the absence of joint injuries, frequency, intensity and duration of recreational physical activity appear to have minimal effect on the development of OA, although elite athletes may be affected.⁴²

Effective interventions

There is ample evidence that neuromuscular conditioning programs are effective in significantly reducing knee and ankle injuries.³⁸ These programs, which typically consist of structured warm-up, balance, stretching, strengthening and agility training, have been shown to reduce the risk of ACL injury by up to 60 per cent.^{38,43}

Sports injury prevention programs have been implemented successfully in a number of countries, including Norway (handball), Switzerland (soccer) and New Zealand (rugby), showing sustained reductions in injury rates.⁴⁴ A number of international organisations including the International Olympic Committee (IOC) and International Federation of Association Football (FIFA)⁴⁵ have supported the implementation of injury prevention programs. Player compliance, tailoring the exercise program to the specific sport and focusing on coach education have been identified as key factors in the success of injury prevention programs.^{44,46}

In Australia, a project to develop and implement guidelines for injury prevention in Australian Rules football at the community level is currently underway⁴⁷ but implementation of sports injury prevention programs has been limited, despite proven efficacy. Much more needs to be done at both elite and community sports levels to reduce the incidence and burden of joint injuries.⁴⁸ This is especially important as increased physical activity and participation in sports are promoted as obesity control strategies.

The Bone and Joint Decade (BJD), an international organisation endorsed by the United Nations (UN) and World Health Organization (WHO) that works to improve the health-related quality of life for people with musculoskeletal disorders,⁴⁹ developed a proposal to implement a population-level injury prevention program in Australia. The proposed program is similar to one implemented in Norway, which reduced sports injuries by 60 per cent. Because the peak incidence of sports injuries occurs in young people between the ages of 15 and 24 years, the program is targeted at those aged under 24.

The proposal is based on three key elements:

- incorporating injury prevention content into existing coach education resources and programs;
- research into sport-specific education content; and
- intervention at the community sport level through a coach-directed, 'train the trainer' approach.

The BJD proposal could be rolled out in stages depending on funding. BJD estimates that a program that reached 40,000 players could be started for \$1.25 million, with ongoing program maintenance costs of \$50,000 a year, while a large-scale program targeting all frequent sports participants would cost just \$28 million to set up and less than \$2 million a year to maintain.⁴⁸

What could be achieved?

Implementing a national sports injury prevention program could significantly reduce the future prevalence of OA of the knee and associated knee replacements, while also reducing the substantial additional costs associated with sports injuries, estimated at \$2 billion in 2005.⁵⁰

The BJD estimated that even a modestly effective injury prevention program that reduced knee injuries by 30 per cent would result in savings to the health system of \$98 million a year, due to a reduction in joint replacements (saving \$46 million), arthroscopies (\$30 million) and knee reconstructions (\$22 million).⁴⁸ While savings on joint replacements would accrue mainly in the longer term, shorter-term annual savings on knee reconstructions and arthroscopies alone would be twice that of the cost of setting up a comprehensive program.

3.1.3 Occupational overuse

Occupational activity has long been recognised as a risk factor for OA of the hip and knee. Particularly at risk of OA are those in occupations with a heavy physical workload that involves kneeling, squatting, heavy lifting and/or climbing.^{51,52} Such occupational activities have been estimated to increase the risk of knee OA by a factor of 1.6.⁵² Occupations associated with the greatest risk include farming, construction work (especially bricklaying and flooring installation), and health care workers.⁵³

It has been estimated that modifying tasks that typically involve heavy lifting and squatting could prevent 15 to 30 per cent of knee OA.⁵⁴

Effective interventions

Mandated occupational health and safety (OHS) requirements in Australia outline safe work standards and establish obligations for employers to address health and safety hazards in the working environment. These obligations include considering the OHS implications of specific manual tasks and 'body stressing' that may increase employees' risk of developing or aggravating OA.^{53,54,55}

In most Australian workplaces, however, awareness of arthritis as a specific health issue is low, with musculoskeletal disorders generally of greater concern.⁵⁶ This likely reflects the fact that while musculoskeletal disorders are the most common conditions cited in worker's compensation claims, accounting for 43 per cent of injury and disease-related claims in Australia in 2003, less than one per cent of claims are for OA.⁵⁷ The long latency period for the development of OA as well as difficulties in attributing causality almost certainly contribute to the under-representation of the condition in worker's compensation claims.

The implementation of OHS-related controls to reduce the risk of work-related musculoskeletal disorders in Australia varies, with a 2008 survey for Safe Work Australia showing that larger workplaces were more likely to implement engineering, job redesign and training controls to address risk, while one in five workers was provided with none of these controls. Additional intervention research is proposed to determine optimal ways to effectively reduce the risk of developing work-related musculoskeletal disorders.⁵⁸

In addition to OHS requirements, workplace wellness and health promotion programs promoting healthy weight, good nutrition and physical activity may assist in the prevention and management of OA in the workplace. Increasingly, in Australia, such programs are being implemented by government and industry, and evidence indicates modest improvements in chronic disease risk factors and reductions in medical and absenteeism costs in the workplace can be achieved.^{59,60}

Two programs to address arthritis risk and management in the workplace have been developed in Australia. In 2008, the Australian WorkHealth Program – Arthritis, an education program designed to minimise the risk of developing arthritis in the workplace and reduce absenteeism and 'presenteeism', was developed and tested with the aid of funding from the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing.⁵⁶ However, no funding was made available to implement the program.

In addition, Arthritis ACT developed and trialled a generic workplace health program, with arthritis and osteoporosis as components of that program, in collaboration with other health consumer organisations. Detailed results of the evaluation of this program are not yet available.

Both programs found that most employers have low interest in disease-specific workplace programs and a general health promotion strategy is most often embraced.⁵⁹ Also, because employers tend to be interested primarily in short-term health and safety issues, they focus less on longer-term objectives such as avoiding OA in the future.⁶¹ Consequently, integrating strategies for preventing and managing OA into OHS programs and more general workplace wellness/health promotion initiatives, such as the National Healthy Workers Initiative, appears to offer the best way to address OA risk in the workplace. Economic factors – particularly the contribution of work disruptions, absenteeism, presenteeism and lost productivity to indirect costs – are a key leverage point for the introduction of workplace health programs.⁵⁹

What could be achieved?

If workplace OHS and health promotion programs start addressing OA risk factors, this could result in a significant reduction in the future prevalence of OA, especially if employees at greater risk of developing work-related OA are targeted. Workplace health and safety programs could also help workers who already have OA to better manage their condition and delay its progression, increasing workforce retention.

The potential benefits of such strategies are substantial given that arthritis is the most commonly reported chronic condition in people of working age and accounts for 42 per cent of the annual loss in full-time employment in Australia due to chronic disease, equivalent to 225,000 person-years of lost participation.¹³ The annual loss of GDP due to arthritis-related early retirement has been estimated at \$9.4 billion.¹¹

3.1.4 Other risk factors

Other risk factors that may be amenable to preventive intervention include genetic predisposition and joint abnormalities.

The genetic contribution to OA has been estimated at between 40 and 65 per cent, and the severity of pain associated with OA may also have a genetic component, especially for the OA of the hip and hand.¹⁶ This is a focus of ongoing research and already, some genes associated with higher disease risk have been identified.⁶³ Further research into identifying genes and other biomarkers associated with OA risk, could provide the basis for a screening tool that would allow preventive interventions, such as avoiding weight gain and joint injury, to be targeted to those at greatest risk before irreversible joint damage occurs.

Joint shape abnormalities or misalignment (e.g. femoroacetabular impingement or dysplasia), either congenital or acquired – say, through injury – are also associated with a heightened risk of developing OA, especially of the hip and in younger patients. There is increasing evidence that these abnormalities, even if minor, may account for most cases of OA of the hip.^{16,64} Long-term data are not yet available, but short term results of studies of early surgical correction of hip abnormalities as a means of slowing OA progression are promising, suggesting the importance of consulting an orthopaedic surgeon early in these cases.

Opportunities for improvement – Risk factors and prevention

- Conduct campaigns to increase public awareness of OA risk factors and strategies for prevention
- Work with organisations active in countering obesity and chronic disease, and those delivering healthy lifestyle, physical activity and sporting programs, to incorporate messaging and programs about preventing OA
- Work with sporting organisations to implement a national sports injury prevention program
- Work with OHS organisations, unions and workplace wellness providers to incorporate messages on OA prevention and management into workplace health promotion programs
- Support primary care providers to give advice on lifestyle modification and make referrals for people who are inactive and/or overweight, for example, by developing local referral pathways and by accrediting programs offering effective lifestyle interventions

3.2 Early detection and diagnosis

OA develops progressively over many years, and identifying it in its earliest stages could reduce the impact of the condition. Early identification allows the timely initiation of appropriate interventions to prevent or slow the progression of the disease before irreversible joint damage occurs. Currently, however there is no reliable method of diagnosing OA in its early stages, before symptoms appear.

Research into the development and validation of biomarkers, improved imaging, and other methods of detecting OA in its early stages is ongoing, but is complicated by an incomplete understanding of the early joint changes associated with OA.⁶⁵

Diagnosis of OA is primarily clinical, based on history and physical examination. Diagnostic criteria include symptoms such as persistent pain, joint stiffness and reduced function. Imaging is overused in OA diagnosis; it is of limited utility except as a way to rule out other conditions when a diagnosis is unclear.⁶⁶ This is mainly because not all radiological OA is associated with symptoms and symptoms such as joint pain and stiffness may be present in the absence of radiological evidence of the condition.^{21,67} Imaging of joints for ongoing OA management, in the absence of changes in a person's condition, is also of limited value as, in the vast majority of cases, the imaging results do not change the way the person's condition is managed.⁶⁶

Reducing unnecessary or inappropriate use of imaging in OA diagnosis and management can generate substantial savings to the health system. In the US, it was estimated that 20 to 50 per cent of 'high-tech' scans (across all conditions) were unnecessary, because the results of the scans failed to help diagnose or treat a patient's ailment.⁶⁶ The extent of unnecessary or inappropriate imaging in Australia is not clear.⁶⁸ Anecdotal evidence suggests, however, that patients frequently present to specialists with MRI scans already done, even though the clinical utility of such scans in OA is questionable.⁶⁷

OA, which is mostly diagnosed and managed by GPs, is the most common problem for which GPs order imaging tests, accounting for 5.2 per cent of all imaging orders. One in six, or 17 per cent of all GP encounters for OA generate at least one order for imaging,⁶⁹ although some of these orders may be driven by patient demand. Education and decision support tools for health care providers could help ensure the appropriate use of diagnostic imaging,⁶⁸ especially for more expensive modalities such as CT and MRI scans.

Validated screening tools to identify people with early symptoms of OA who have yet to be diagnosed have been developed for OA in some joints.⁷⁰ Applying these tools has the potential to improve patient outcomes by allowing early initiation of appropriate management that may slow the progression of the disease. Some small studies using postal or telephone surveys to evaluate screening suggest that these may be feasible methods of screening for OA^{71,73} as well, although these studies make no assessment of cost-effectiveness.

One screening tool for OA of the knee was developed to be administered on paper or through a web-based interface.⁷⁰ This tool has been incorporated into MyJointPain.org.au, a website developed by Arthritis Australia in collaboration with the Bupa Health Foundation to identify people with OA and support them in managing their condition.

Opportunities for improvement – Early detection and diagnosis

- Conduct campaigns to increase public awareness that OA can be effectively managed to reduce symptoms and delay progression
- Support and promote further research into methods for detecting OA in its earliest stages, when irreversible joint damage might be avoidable
- Develop and provide advice, education and decision support tools for GPs regarding the appropriate use of diagnostic imaging in OA

3.3 Early treatment

Good management of OA in the early stages can help to reduce patients' pain, preserve function, slow disease progression and improve quality of life.

However, management of OA in Australia is largely palliative, with a focus on advanced-stage disease. Typically, treatment is limited to the use of analgesic and/ or anti-inflammatory medications to reduce symptoms until the condition worsens, at which point the patient is referred for a joint replacement.⁴ Yet the pharmacological therapies available to treat OA are only moderately effective, and many of them are subject to significant safety concerns.³⁸

Dissatisfaction with care is common among people with OA and the clinicians who treat them. Two thirds of people with OA report that they are faring badly with their condition. Key factors associated with faring badly are patients' perceived standard of care, the information made available to them and their access to GPs, specialists and allied health professionals – not the severity of their arthritis or how long they have had it.¹ GPs, who play an important role in management of people with OA, are also dissatisfied with the care they are able to provide. They report feeling hamstrung by the lack of effective treatments and by poor access to support for lifestyle changes and non-drug management.³

Consequently, there is substantial scope to improve quality of life for people with OA, and to reduce the future burden of OA on individuals and society by improving management of the condition in its early stages, before extensive and irreversible joint damage occurs.

3.3.1 Conservative management

A range of local and international clinical practice guidelines is available for the management of OA – including, in Australia, the RACGP's Guideline for the non-surgical management of hip and knee OA.

Most guidelines recommend a combination of nonpharmacological and pharmacological modalities, usually referred to as conservative management, for the optimal management of OA at all stages of the disease. They recommend that joint replacement surgery only be considered when conservative management strategies no longer provide adequate pain relief or functional improvement.

Non-pharmacological interventions include patient education and self-management, weight reduction for those who are overweight or obese, exercise and physical therapy. These interventions are usually recommended as first-line management for OA, as well as being important for managing the condition at all stages.^{38,74}

Where these interventions alone are inadequate to manage OA symptoms, pharmacological interventions, such as analgesics and NSAIDs, are recommended.

To date, there is limited evidence available on the costeffectiveness of conservative management for OA. A recent systematic review, however, found that all the exercise interventions reviewed were cost-saving.⁷⁵ An evidence-based modelling study found that exercise programs were highly cost-effective, at less than \$5000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY), but there was insufficient evidence to model weight loss and patient education interventions.⁷⁶

Conservative management of OA, especially nonpharmacological modalities, is underutilised in Australia. Up to 68 per cent of people on waiting lists for elective joint replacement surgery have had no prior conservative management except for medication.^{77,78}

A number of primarily hospital-based models for the provision of conservative management, targeting people on specialist outpatient and/or elective surgery waiting lists, are being implemented in Australia (see Existing models of care), with promising results. However, there is no clear model for the provision of community-based conservative care for OA, and evidence regarding optimal delivery methods in this context is scarce.⁴

Effective models for providing conservative management appear to rely on using an individual coaching or case management approach, led by a health professional who can provide education, ongoing support and referrals to appropriate services. A range of health professionals, including GPs, nurses in general practice, physiotherapists and pharmacists, could fulfil this role⁷⁹ as could online services such as MyJointPain.org.au. More intensive case coordination and support is likely to be required as a person's condition progresses.

Information, education and support for self-management

Self-management has been identified as a key strategy for managing chronic disease.^{80,81} There is no consensus definition but the term is generally used to describe the activities undertaken by a person with a chronic condition, in conjunction with their family and care community, to manage the symptoms, treatments, psychosocial and lifestyle consequences of their condition in order to maintain optimal health.⁸² Effective selfmanagement requires access to information, education and support from health professionals and carers.⁵

Interventions to support self-management vary in content and in method of delivery but generally, they aim to improve the knowledge and skills a person requires to manage their condition effectively. Although the evidence is limited, self-management interventions in OA have been associated with small improvements in pain and disability⁸³ and are generally recommended in clinical practice guidelines.^{84,86} One Australian study of participants in arthritis self-management courses showed small but sustained improvements in levels of pain, fatigue and health distress as well as in self-efficacy and health-related behaviours.⁸⁷

Evidence relating to the cost-effectiveness of selfmanagement programs is limited,⁸⁸ but programs for OA of the knee have shown that most of the cost is offset by reduced primary-care visits within a year.⁸⁹ An evaluation of a range of self-management interventions in Australia across a number of chronic conditions also found that these interventions reduced the use of health services, as well as improving health outcomes and quality of life.⁹⁰

The proportion of people in Australia with OA who receive support for self-management from their health practitioners or who participate in self-management programs is unknown, but is likely to be less than optimal. Only one third of people with arthritis discuss self-management with their GPs or specialists⁹ while evidence indicates that just 10 per cent of people on surgical waiting lists for joint replacements have attended self-management programs.⁵ Self-management programs are available through arthritis organisations across Australia but a recent survey found that only 32 per cent of GPs were aware of these programs and only 19 per cent had referred anyone to them.³

Barriers to participation in self-management interventions exist at both the health system and individual levels. Time constraints and cost have been identified as significant barriers to more active GP support for self-management education.⁹⁰ This suggests that other practitioners, such as nurses in general practice or physiotherapists, may be better placed to provide self-management support to people with OA. Nurses in general practice are currently underutilised in the provision of self-management support for people with arthritis; only 29 per cent report that they regularly undertake arthritis education, assessment and management tasks, compared to 59 per cent for diabetes and 76 per cent for cardiovascular disease.⁹¹ A cadre of arthritis educators (similar to existing diabetes educators) could also be developed, supported by Australian government funding (for example, through the Medicare Benefits Schedule).

At the individual level, barriers to participating in community-based self-management interventions include physical limitations, such as restricted mobility and pain; transport issues; work and family commitments; and lack of interest.⁹² Certain groups, such as men, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, and people from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds may also be less likely to participate.⁵

There appears to be substantial scope to increase people's participation in self-management interventions and support long term adherence to self-management strategies. Research indicates that the probability of a person with OA participating in community-based arthritis self-management programs is substantially higher when this is recommended by a health care professional,⁹³ so strategies to increase professionals' awareness of and referrals to these programs may be of benefit.⁹⁴ Tailored programs for specific groups, such as CALD groups, may also be beneficial.

Providing more accessible and flexible options for participation may also boost the uptake of self-management. Online programs, such as MyJointPain.org.au, and social networking technologies offer great potential to support and engage people in improving self-management of OA.

There is also scope for providing more structured ongoing support for self-management, through greater utilisation of health practitioners such as nurses, physiotherapists and pharmacists. Arthritis South Australia, for example, is piloting a pharmacy-focused health package designed to provide selected pharmacies with training, resources and in-store health services to support people with arthritis and osteoporosis.⁹⁵

Stakeholder consultations for this project highlighted lack of support for people with OA in self-managing their condition as a major issue.

Exercise

Exercise plays an important role in the management of symptoms across all stages of OA and is consistently recommended in clinical practice guidelines.

The benefits of exercise in relation to pain and physical function are similar to those attained with analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications (NSAIDs), but with fewer side effects.⁹⁶

There is strong evidence that both aerobic and muscle strengthening exercise reduce pain and improve physical function in people with OA, particularly OA of the knee, as well as providing other benefits such as improved cardiovascular fitness. Both land- and waterbased exercise are effective and tai chi may also be of benefit.^{85,97} Exercise therapy may need to be adapted to take into account patient characteristics such as age, comorbidity and overall mobility.⁹⁸

Any type of exercise program is beneficial, whether it is individual, group or home-based, but programs with more than 12 directly supervised sessions are associated with greater reduction in pain and improvements in function.⁹⁶ As yet, however, there is insufficient evidence on which to base recommendations about the frequency, intensity and duration of exercise required for optimal benefit.⁹⁶ Patient adherence is one of the main predictors of positive long-term outcomes from exercise therapy, but it tends to decline over time.⁹⁹

While exercise is of benefit in reducing OA symptoms, there is no evidence to suggest that exercise can influence structural disease progression.⁹⁷ Lack of exercise, however, can contribute to weight gain, which increases the symptoms of OA and accelerates disease progression.

Despite evidence of benefit, people with arthritis experience particular barriers to physical activity, including concerns about aggravating their pain and causing further joint damage, and lack of knowledge about the type and intensity of physical activity that is appropriate for their condition.^{100,101}

These barriers could be addressed by improving access to exercise professionals, such as physiotherapists and exercise physiologists, who can provide advice and support on how to modify exercise programs so people with OA can exercise with confidence that their activity programs won't aggravate their condition. Providing such access will require strategies to increase workforce capacity and skills to deliver appropriate services.

There is also an opportunity to increase public awareness of the importance of exercise and its most appropriate forms for people with arthritis. Currently, Arthritis Australia is developing a project to expand the provision of exercise and physical activity programs addressing the needs of people with or at risk of arthritis, to assist in the prevention and management of the condition.

Weight loss

Clinical practice guidelines consistently recommend that people with OA who are overweight or obese lose weight. Excess weight aggravates the pain and disability associated with OA, accelerates disease progression and raises the risk of requiring joint replacement.¹⁸ Weight loss of five per cent or more significantly improves symptoms of pain and physical function in obese people with knee OA.¹⁰² Furthermore, greater weight loss may yield improved results. In one trial, a weight reduction of 10 per cent improved function by 28 per cent, with a nine per cent improvement in symptoms for every one per cent of body fat shed.¹⁰³

Although there has been little research in this area, combining exercise and weight loss appears to be more effective than either intervention alone.⁹⁷ One study found that weight loss of five per cent over 18 months in overweight and obese adults with knee OA led to an 18 per cent improvement in function, while weight loss and exercise combined improved function by 24 per cent, and was accompanied by a significant improvement in mobility.¹⁹

The most recent NHMRC guidelines for the management of overweight and obesity recommend multicomponent lifestyle interventions incorporating healthy eating, increased physical activity and support for behavioural change, tailored to the needs of the individual. Primary health care professionals, especially GPs and nurses in general practice, are identified as having an important role to play in referring patients to dietitians and lifestyle programs and, in follow-up, maintenance and management of relapses over the long term. A systematic and proactive approach to managing care is recommended to support effective weight management in primary care.¹⁰⁴

Overall, there is little evidence available regarding interventions that aim to improve physical activity and dietary behaviour in those with or at risk of OA, but telephone counselling has been shown to be effective. Interventions lasting six to 12 months, and those including 12 or more calls produced the most favourable outcomes.¹⁰⁵ Telephone counselling has also been shown to be cost-effective in the Australian context.¹⁰⁶

Despite substantial evidence of its benefits, the uptake of exercise and weight loss as a means of managing OA in Australia is limited. Only eight per cent of people with arthritis in Australia try to lose weight and only 19 per cent exercise most days to manage their condition.¹⁰⁷ Although around 90 per cent of those on waiting lists for elective joint replacement surgery are overweight or obese, very few have tried conservative management for their condition prior to being referred for surgery.¹⁰⁸ In a recent survey, nearly all GPs indicated that they recommended non-drug measures including exercise, weight loss and physiotherapy for their patients with OA. Most, however,

cited poor access to support for lifestyle changes, including the cost of seeing allied health professionals, as a major barrier to adopting such an approach. Most GPs surveyed (71 per cent) reported that they would like to improve their ability to counsel people with OA on lifestyle measures they could adopt to improve their condition.³

Physical therapy

Multimodal physical therapy, which typically includes range of motion exercise, soft-tissue mobilisation, and muscle strengthening and stretching, is generally recommended for OA management in clinical practice guidelines.^{84,85} Evidence indicates that these therapies can achieve significant improvements in pain, physical function and health-related quality of life, both in the short term and the longer term for those with OA of the knee.⁸⁵ People with milder disease are most likely to respond positively to such therapy, suggesting that earlier referral is preferable.¹⁰⁹ Delivery modes, including individual, group and home exercises, are all effective; and contact with the therapist may improve these benefits.¹¹⁰

In Australia, the utilisation of physical therapy for OA is suboptimal. Only two per cent of people with OA reported consulting with physiotherapists and/or other physical therapists with regard to their condition in 2007–08. GPs referred people with OA to physiotherapists in only four per cent of the OA cases they managed.¹¹¹

Costs associated with seeing allied health professionals have been identified as a major barrier to the successful treatment of arthritis.³ This finding is supported by increasing evidence that chronic illness and disability are associated with serious economic hardship – hardship that is often a result of the high costs incurred in treating and managing chronic conditions, compounded by loss of income due to reduced capacity to work.¹¹² There is substantial potential to increase access to allied health services for physical therapy for people with OA by improving referral pathways and ensuring key services are more affordable.

In some international and local programs,

physiotherapists are taking a leading and expanded role in the management of musculoskeletal conditions, including arthritis, providing case management, assessment and triage services as part of multidisciplinary teams (see Existing models of care).¹¹³ In Queensland, the Orthopaedic Physiotherapy Screening Clinic and Multidisciplinary Service is a hospital-based clinic led by an experienced musculoskeletal physiotherapist who acts as a case manager for people referred to the service. The service has delivered good clinical outcomes and recorded very high satisfaction rates from patients, referrers and consultants.¹¹⁴ This suggests that appropriately experienced physiotherapists could take on an expanded role managing the health of people with OA at the community level.

Other non-pharmacological conservative therapies

A range of other non-pharmacological conservative therapies is available for the treatment of OA, but to date, evidence of their efficacy is limited and/or variable in quality. There is some evidence, however, that walking aids, knee braces, advice regarding appropriate footwear (including the use of lateral wedged insoles), thermal therapies and possibly acupuncture are of benefit to OA patients.^{85,115}

Pharmacological interventions

Pharmacological interventions for OA include paracetamol as a first-line analgesic for persistent mild to moderate pain; then oral and topical NSAIDs; and, if other pain relief has been ineffective, opioids and intra-articular corticosteroid injections.

Existing pharmacological therapies are only moderately effective, and many are subject to significant safety concerns.³⁸ Paracetamol can lead to small reductions in pain but has no significant effect on stiffness or physical function in knee OA. Some evidence suggests that paracetamol is of limited benefit in reducing OA pain and may increase the risk of gastrointestinal and renal toxicity with long-term use.¹¹⁵

NSAIDs can lead to small to moderate reductions in pain but are associated with adverse effects, including a three to five times greater risk of serious gastrointestinal complications such as peptic ulcers, perforations and bleeds, and increased risk of cardiovascular events. Consequently, guidelines recommend that NSAIDs should be used at the lowest possible effective dose, with long-term use to be avoided if possible.

As cardiovascular comorbidities are common in people with OA, the increased cardiovascular risk associated with some NSAIDS is a major limiting factor in the use of these medications in this cohort.¹¹⁶ Topical NSAIDs, which have fewer side effects than oral forms, are also

recommended as an adjunct or alternative to oral NSAIDS and other analgesics, although efficacy appears to vary between products.¹¹⁵ The use of NSAIDs in combination with paracetamol is associated with a higher risk of gastrointestinal bleeding than using either agent alone.¹¹⁷

Opioids are associated with moderate to large improvements in pain intensity but frequently have side effects such as nausea, constipation, dizziness, somnolence and vomiting, not to mention accidental overdose.¹¹⁵

Intra-articular corticosteroid injections are usually used to treat people with OA with moderate to severe pain that does not respond to other treatments, or who show signs of local inflammation. These procedures are associated with a relatively large improvement in short term pain relief, but only small improvements in physical function and stiffness. They are not associated with any major safety issues, making them an important part of the management of severe OA, especially in people for whom joint replacements are not appropriate.¹¹⁵

Medication is the most common OA management strategy used by GPs in Australia, with drugs prescribed, advised or supplied in 86 per cent of OA problems being managed.¹¹¹ The most common medications used are paracetamol (in 26 per cent of OA problems managed by GPs), COX -2 inhibitors (six to 11 per cent) and a range of opioid analgesics (four to five per cent).¹¹⁸ One in three Australians with arthritis uses pharmaceuticals to manage their condition. This is four times the number who try to lose weight and nearly twice as many as those who exercise most days to manage their condition,¹¹⁹ despite comparable benefits. The number of people with OA who currently receive intra-articular corticosteroid injections in Australia is unknown, as these procedures were removed from the Medicare Benefits Schedule in 2009.

Complementary and alternative medicine

People with arthritis and musculoskeletal conditions are major users of complementary and alternative medicines (CAM), with around 60 per cent trying a variety of products in an effort to gain relief from the chronic pain and disability associated with their condition.¹²⁰ More than half of all people with arthritis in Australia take supplements or natural therapies for their condition. Of these, around 60 per cent take omega-3 fish oils and glucosamine, while about 13 per cent take chondroitin.¹¹¹

Evidence relating to the efficacy of glucosamine and chondroitin sulphate is mixed and mostly of poor quality and the effectiveness of these agents in OA treatment remains a matter of controversy.¹¹⁵ Currently there is insufficient evidence regarding the benefits of fish oil in OA.¹²¹

A major concern in relation to the use of CAM is the potential for adverse drug reactions with conventional pharmaceutical medications, especially as CAM use is not regularly disclosed to or discussed with medical practitioners during consultations.¹²² Fish oil, for example, may interfere with the action of anticoagulants,¹²¹ and this is a major concern, given that cardiovascular conditions are common comorbidities with OA.

There is a need to build on existing patient information about the use of CAM, including potential interactions with other drugs and the importance of patients discussing all medicines they are taking with their treating doctors.

3.3.2 Surgical interventions

The main surgical procedure used in mild to moderate OA is arthroscopy. While joint replacement surgery (arthroplasty) for OA is very common, it is usually undertaken in those with advanced-stage disease, when other conservative therapies no longer provide adequate pain relief or functional improvement (see Advancedstage care).

Nearly 10,000 arthroscopies were performed in Australia for OA in 2010–11.¹²³ at an estimated total cost of more than \$36 million a year.¹²⁴

The role of arthroscopies in treatment of knee OA is subject to controversy.⁸⁵ Some studies have shown shortterm relief of symptoms and benefit in some younger patients and those with mild OA.^{85,125} Recent high-level evidence, however, shows that arthroscopy may offer no benefit over placebo (sham surgery) and no additional benefit when added to physical and medical therapy. ^{125,127} A study of trends in knee arthroscopies in Victoria from 2000 to 2009 noted that rates of knee arthroscopy for OA had not reduced significantly over this time¹²⁸ but the validity of these findings is difficult to confirm.¹²⁹

As yet, there are no Australian clinical practice guidelines relating to arthroscopies, but recent guidelines from the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons recommend against their use in knee OA.¹³⁰

The Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) is currently reviewing existing MBS items for diagnostic knee arthroscopies.

Osteotomy and other joint-preserving surgical procedures may be of benefit in preventing or delaying the progression of OA in young adults with joint abnormalities ^{85,130} (see also Other risk factors). This highlights the importance of early referral to orthopaedic surgeons in these cases.

Opportunities for improvement – Early treatment

Promote and support the implementation of conservative management of OA in primary care

- Develop and implement tools and education campaigns targeting GPs and other primary care practitioners, to support them in implementing conservative management of people with OA in primary care
- Encourage GPs to promote exercise and weight loss, and support self-management for people with OA
- Encourage GP referrals to allied health practitioners and to community-based healthy lifestyle counselling, exercise and weight loss programs
- Increase the utilisation of nurses in general practice, physiotherapists and pharmacists to provide management for people with early OA, including education and ongoing support for self-management
- Work with Medicare Locals to build local workforce capacity and develop local referral pathways for access to effective community-based lifestyle counselling, exercise and weight loss programs
- Work with existing providers of lifestyle modification programs to ensure that the needs of people with OA are addressed

Improve the timely provision of information and support to people newly diagnosed with OA

- Develop a comprehensive information package and tools for those recently diagnosed with OA to help them understand the condition, treatment options, and how to navigate their way around available services
- Refer those newly diagnosed to MyJointPain.org.au and to their state or territory arthritis organisations for access to information resources, education in selfmanaging OA and peer support groups
- Tailor and adapt existing information resources and self-management courses to cater for the needs of specific groups, such as those from CALD backgrounds and promote through relevant organisations and community groups

Prepare and promote a joint position statement from stakeholder organisations on the use of arthroscopies in the diagnosis and management of OA, to be released in clinician and consumer versions.

3.4 Ongoing management

As OA progresses, the level of functional decline and disability and the number of comorbidities tends to increase, adding to the complexity of care and level of support required to achieve best outcomes. More intensive, coordinated multidisciplinary care is usually required to achieve best outcomes and support people with OA manage their condition.

People with OA may also be referred to orthopaedic services for joint replacement; in Australia, this often occurs before they actually require surgery, when conservative management therapies such as weight loss and exercise may still be effective.

3.4.1 Multidisciplinary care

Multidisciplinary care is a key principle for the management of OA, and is recommended in local and international guidelines and standards of care.

In the early stages of OA, developing an individualised multidisciplinary care plan in primary care, with access to community-based allied health practitioners and to exercise and weight loss programs in line with individual needs, is appropriate.

People with more complex and advanced disease, the elderly and those with significant comorbidities are likely to require more intensive, specialised and coordinated multidisciplinary care. At present, this level of care is provided almost entirely through hospital-based clinics that help manage the care of people on waiting lists for orthopaedic outpatient clinics and elective joint replacement surgery (see Existing models of care). There is scope to extend these models of care into the community, to improve access by establishing community-based multidisciplinary teams that have specific expertise in managing musculoskeletal conditions. Both public and private sector services would be required.

The composition of each multidisciplinary team would depend on local resources and patient needs, and would typically include, but not be limited to: GPs and their practice staff, specialists, orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists, nurses, occupational therapists, dietitians, psychologists, social workers, pharmacists, exercise physiologists and podiatrists.⁴

Stakeholder consultations identified lack of access to multidisciplinary care and allied health services, and the costs of accessing these services, as issues of major concern for people with OA. Inequity of access between metropolitan and rural areas/regional centres, and between public and private health care sectors, fragmentation of care and lack of communication between health care providers, were also highlighted as major problems.

The cost of accessing private allied health services, which are inadequately covered by Medicare and private health insurance, creates a significant barrier to optimal access. People with OA can access MBS rebates for allied health services under Chronic Disease Management items, but subsidised visits are currently limited to just five per year. This number is inadequate to meet the costs of accessing the range of allied health services that may be required for optimal care of people with OA, and needs to be increased.

3.4.2 Comorbidities

People with OA often have a range of comorbidities which increase in number with age. Common comorbidities for people with arthritis include obesity, hypertension, heart disease, diabetes, anxiety and depression. Over half of elderly patients with arthritis have hypertension, 20 per cent have cardiovascular disease and 14 per cent, diabetes.¹³¹ One in five people with arthritis also experience one or more mental disorders. Published studies suggest a causal pathway from musculoskeletal conditions to psychological disorders rather than the reverse.¹³²

Over 50 per cent of Australians known to have chronic illness have more than five concurrent chronic illnesses.¹³³

Arthritis is also a major comorbidity for other conditions. In 2004–05, 52 per cent of Australians with heart, stroke and vascular disease and 41 per cent of people with diabetes had arthritis as well.¹³⁴ Arthritis is also present in more than half of people with cancer.¹³¹

While these comorbidity clusters are likely to be due mostly to shared risk factors across these conditions, arthritis may actually heighten a person's risk of developing other chronic conditions, because the pain and reduced mobility associated with the condition increase the likelihood of physical inactivity and consequent obesity. By creating a barrier to physical activity, OA may also hinder the effective management of other chronic conditions, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^{100,133}

The existence of comorbidities complicates treatment and management for both OA and the comorbid conditions, and highlights the importance of taking a person-centred, integrated, multidisciplinary approach to management and treatment. Comorbidity also hinders a person's capacity to self-manage their condition.¹³³

As noted previously, the five Medicare-subsidised allied health services per patient year available under the Chronic Disease Management items are likely to be inadequate to support improved outcomes in OA management. This situation is exacerbated if a person has co-morbidities requiring a range of allied health services. A person with arthritis and one or more other chronic conditions is likely to require the services of several practitioners – a dietician, a podiatrist, a physiotherapist and a psychologist as well as, say, a diabetes educator - to help manage their various conditions. This level of need simply cannot be accommodated under the fivevisit limit that currently applies to allied health services subsidised under the Chronic Disease Management items. In knee OA, for example, evidence indicates that exercise programs with more than 12 directly supervised sessions led to the greatest improvements with regard to pain and physical function.95

Initiatives are required to improve, integrate and coordinate prevention and care across chronic conditions, particularly in primary care. For example, exercise and rehabilitation programs for people with cardiovascular or respiratory disease could be redesigned to accommodate arthritis-related limitations. Further research into managing multiple disease conditions is also required.

Opportunities for improvement – Ongoing management

Improve access to multidisciplinary care for people with more severe disease and more complex needs

- Establish community-based multidisciplinary arthritis clinics/teams to provide public and private services
- Provide services in rural and other underserviced areas through outreach clinics and/or telehealth services arranged in a hub-and-spoke model from larger centres
- Increase the number of annual Medicare-subsidised allied health visits available under Chronic Disease Management items, and raise the level of subsidy so that it more closely reflects the cost of accessing services
- Improve the integration and coordination of prevention programs and care across chronic conditions, particularly in primary care

3.5 Advanced-stage care

3.5.1 Joint replacement surgery

For patients with severe symptoms and functional limitations despite conservative therapy, joint replacement surgery (arthroplasty) is a highly effective intervention that can restore near-normal function. Hip and knee replacements provide substantial and sustained improvements in pain and physical functioning, with outcomes generally better for hip procedures. Studies show that up to 84 per cent of people undergoing total hip replacement were free from pain nearly 10 years after their procedures. People undergoing knee replacements report improvements in pain, function and range of motion of between 63 per cent and 100 per cent four to six years after surgery, depending on the type of procedure.⁸⁵

Both hip and knee replacements have been shown to be highly cost-effective in the Australian context, with hip replacements more so than knee replacements.¹³⁵

While joint replacements can last 20 years, some fail earlier so surgery needs to be repeated (revision surgery). Revision surgeries are more expensive, and are associated with increased complication rates and poorer outcomes than primary joint replacements.²⁷ Revision rates for both hip and knee replacements are around six per cent after five years and 12 per cent after 10 years.¹³⁶ There is an increased risk of early revision (within five years) among those who undergo joint replacement at an earlier age.²⁷

The outcome of joint replacement surgery is influenced by a range of factors including the age, gender, diagnosis and overall health of the patient, the type of prosthesis and surgical techniques used, and the volume of procedures undertaken by the surgeon.¹³⁷

Joint replacement in Australia

In Australia, the National Joint Replacement Registry collects and publishes data on joint replacements. In 2012, there were 48,215 knee replacements and 37,696 hip replacements undertaken in Australia: 97 per cent of total knee and 89 per cent of total hip replacements are for OA.¹³⁷ The rate of joint replacement surgery increased substantially in the decade to 2011–12, with knee replacements per 100,000 population increasing by 54 per cent over this time, while hip replacements increased by 20 per cent.¹²³ The total cost of hip and knee replacements alone now amounts to more than \$2 billion annually, and this cost is increasing at a rate

of more than \$80 million a year. Most joint replacement surgery in Australia is undertaken in the private sector, which accounts for 59 per cent of hip and 69 per cent of knee replacements. The rate of joint replacements is growing faster in the private than in the public sector.¹³⁷

Elective surgery waiting lists

Access to public elective surgery is rationed by waiting lists. In 2011–12, median waiting times for elective joint replacement surgery in Australia were around 120 days for hip and around 180 days for knee surgery, but this varied considerably across regions. Waiting times for knee replacement were highest in Tasmania and the ACT, at around 475 days, and in NSW at around 300 days; they were lowest in Queensland, Western Australia and Victoria, at around 120 days.¹³⁸ Waiting lists are not maintained for private elective surgery.

These waiting lists do not fully reflect the total waiting time required for surgery; often, there are extensive waiting lists for specialist orthopaedic outpatient clinics as well. In Queensland, in the quarter to 1 October 2013, for example, only 42 per cent of patients were seen by orthopaedic consultants within the clinically recommended time.¹³⁹

Evidence suggests that a lengthy waiting time for surgery may lead to a decline in a person with arthritis's quality of life and physical function and an increase in joint-related pain, and that from the time of referral, surgery waiting times should be no more than 180 days.^{4,140} Many states are failing to meet this benchmark.

Patients referred for joint replacement surgery are assessed in terms of their clinical need for and expected benefit from surgery, then assigned to one of three broad categories of urgency as part of the waitlisting process. However, many people are referred to orthopaedic services before they actually require surgery,¹⁴¹ and up to 68 per cent of those on elective surgery waiting lists in Australia have undertaken no prior conservative management except medication.^{78,142}

There is also evidence of considerable variation in how people are assigned to clinical urgency categories.^{143,144} Concepts of 'clinical need' and 'benefit' tend to be poorly defined and there's a lack of specific guidelines to assist in allocating patients to urgency categories.¹⁴⁵ Moreover, there is no clear agreement on the most appropriate timing for joint replacement surgery,¹⁴⁴ As a result, many people who may not require surgery in the short term are on waiting lists, while access to surgery for those in most need may be delayed.

Recently, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare and the Royal Australian College of Surgeons have responded to the need to address inconsistencies among the states and territories with respect to categorising OA patients awaiting elective surgery in terms of clinical urgency by proposing a more consistent and easily comparable package of definitions.¹⁴⁶

For people with advanced OA, improved cross-disciplinary collaboration in care, including the involvement of orthopaedic surgeons in multidisciplinary teams, is also likely to improve the timeliness and appropriateness of referrals for joint replacement surgery.

Improving the management of people who may require joint replacement surgery

Internationally and locally, attempts are being made to adopt a more systematic and equitable approach to referral and prioritisation for joint replacement surgery, and to enhance the provision of best care prior to surgery.¹⁴⁵

In 2007, the RACGP produced a management guide for referral for joint replacements, aimed at GPs, specialists and allied health professionals. The guide was designed to help health care professionals identify appropriate patients for referral, support decision-making regarding joint replacement surgery, and ensure the provision of best care before surgery.¹⁴⁷ It is not clear to what extent this referral guide is used by GPs in Australia.

Several Australian states are implementing programs and/ or models of care to improve the management of people with OA on specialist outpatient and surgical waiting lists, and provide better conservative management prior to surgery. These programs include the Osteoarthritis Hip and Knee Service in Victoria (OAHKS),¹⁴⁸ the Queensland Orthopaedic Physiotherapy Screening Clinics and Multidisciplinary Service(OPSC & MDS), and the NSW Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program (OACCP).⁴

Key elements of these programs include early and comprehensive assessment, the engagement of a multidisciplinary team led by a musculoskeletal coordinator (in the Queensland model, this role is filled by a physiotherapist who provides patient assessment, diagnosis, management planning and coordination of care); the provision of appropriate conservative management for those not ready for surgery, and equitable and appropriate prioritisation for surgery.

Western Australia has also developed an Elective Joint Replacement Service Model of Care,¹⁴⁰ while South Australia has developed the Arthroplasty Demand and Allocation Management (ADAM) proposal¹⁴⁹ to better manage patients on surgical waitlists. These models may not directly recommend multidisciplinary conservative management strategies, but they refer people who do not yet require surgery back to their GPs or communitybased programs, through which they can get support for conservative management.

Implementation of these programs, where it has occurred, has resulted in substantial improvements in the care of people with OA, including reduced waiting times for patients, improved clinical outcomes, increased uptake of conservative management, and more appropriate prioritisation of surgery in line with clinical need. The pilot for the OAHKS program, for example, reduced waiting times from first visit to surgery from 22 months to a mean of eight months within a year. In addition, two out of three people referred were managed conservatively and, of these, 27 per cent no longer required surgery.¹⁵⁰ Moreover, preliminary results for the OACCP program indicate that 13 per cent of people were able to be removed from the waitlist, as they no longer required surgery due to effective conservative management.¹⁵¹

Modelling indicates that a 10 per cent reduction in the number of hip and knee replacements in future years as a result of implementing these programs nationally would reduce the number of hip and knee replacement procedures by more than 8000 in the first year and more than 11,000 by 2032. The associated reduction in acute care costs would be \$156 million in the first year and around \$430 million by 2032.⁵⁹

Even greater benefits may accrue from improving the uptake of conservative management through communitybased services earlier in the disease course, rather than targeting people on elective surgery waiting lists, most of whom are at later stages of disease progression.

Patient selection for joint replacement

While the benefits of joint replacement are clear, the procedure is not suitable for some people with advanced OA due to factors such as age, comorbidities and poor overall health.

In addition, up to one in five people undergoing joint replacement surgery is unhappy with the outcome, and continues to experience pain and mobility issues, with rates of dissatisfaction generally higher for knee replacements than for hip replacements.^{152,153,154}

Preoperative risk factors for worse outcomes from joint replacement surgery include more severe pain and poorer function (suggesting that earlier surgical intervention may be warranted in some cases); poorer mental health; medical comorbidities; and obesity.^{5,155}

To improve outcomes for people undergoing joint replacement surgery, additional research is required. Such research would address early interventions to tackle poor

prognostic risk factors, strategies to optimise patient selection for, and the timing of joint replacement surgery, and the most appropriate management for people for whom joint replacement is unsuitable.

3.5.2 Aged Care

Arthritis is a common condition and the leading cause of disability among the elderly. Around half of all Australians aged 65 years and over suffer from arthritis, with OA being the most common form in this age group.⁶²

Musculoskeletal conditions, including OA, are the second most common main health condition among residents of aged care facilities, affecting 18% of residents.¹⁵⁶ These conditions are also projected to be one of the top three contributors to increases in costs for residential aged care with costs expected to increase from \$0.7 billion in 2002-03 to \$2.7 billion in 2032-33.¹⁵⁷

Anecdotal evidence suggests management of OA amongst residents of aged care facilities is an issue in terms of both pain management and limited mobility.

Improving management of OA in older people both in the community and in residential aged care can help them to maintain their independence for longer, reduce the burden on informal carers, reduce premature admission to residential aged care facilities and delay requirements for higher level care.

Arthritis Australia will work with the aged care sector to develop strategies to enhance care for older people with OA.

3.5.3 Disability support

Disability support for people with OA over the age of 65 years is provided through the aged care system, while support for those below this age is available from disability support services. Anecdotal evidence suggests, however, that people with arthritis are often denied access to disability services because their condition is considered a medical condition and not a disability, despite the associated limitations on activity.

Recent government initiatives in the area of disability offer the potential to significantly improve inclusion, support and life opportunities for people with disability, their families and carers. This includes the rollout of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) and state and national initiatives under the National Disability Strategy (NDS). Informal advice is that people with severe arthritis related disability will be eligible for support under the NDIS. There is a need to monitor the rollout of the NDIS, as well as relevant initiatives under the NDS to ensure that people with OA-related disability receive fair and appropriate support. Support for carers, to assist them in maintaining their own quality of life, is also important.

Opportunities for improvement – Advanced-stage care and surgery

- Establish benchmarks for timely access to elective joint replacement surgery
- Reduce the demand for elective joint replacement surgery by establishing community-based multidisciplinary clinics for people with advanced OA that incorporate orthopaedic triage and provide conservative management options, hosted by Medicare Locals in collaboration with local hospital networks
- Promote the uptake of the RACGP management guide to referral for joint replacement surgery by GPs, specialists and allied health professionals, and incorporate it into computer-based decision support tools
- Prepare and promote a joint position statement from stakeholder organisations on the use of arthroscopies in diagnosing and managing OA, in both clinician and consumer versions
- Undertake research on appropriate patient selection for surgery and the most appropriate management of people for whom surgery is unsuitable
- Undertake research into the disability support needs of people with OA and work with the NDIS to develop practical tools that will assist assessors when they are considering the needs of people with significant OArelated disability

4. Australian health care environment

4.1 Supporting multidisciplinary care in Australia

A number of broad structural factors within the Australian health care environment affect the implementation of best practice care for OA. Many of these factors reflect the difficulties of providing ongoing, integrated, multidisciplinary, patient-centred care for chronic health conditions within a health system that is still predominantly structured to deliver acute care.

There are models for multidisciplinary care of OA at the hospital level but these are focused mainly on people with the most advanced stage of disease. Implementing a similar standard of care at the community level provides health care workers with opportunities to intervene at earlier stages of the disease to delay or prevent progression of the disease, ultimately improving outcomes for people with OA and thereby reducing demand for hospital services and surgery.

The creation of Medicare Locals to plan, integrate and coordinate primary health care services on a local basis provides significant opportunities for improving multidisciplinary care for OA. Medicare Locals can provide a locus for community-based multidisciplinary clinics for OA and other forms of arthritis, support the development of local referral pathways, and facilitate telehealth and outreach services. A number of tools, including Map of Medicineⁱ and Health Pathways,ⁱⁱ have been developed to assist in establishing local referral pathways, and are being implemented in some Medicare Locals.

Medicare provides some funding to support enhanced chronic disease management in primary care through items that include rebates for preparing management plans and coordinating team care arrangements and some allied health services.¹⁵⁸ In addition, the Practice Incentives Program (PIP)¹⁵⁹ and Practice Nurse Incentives Program (PNIP) provide financial incentives to general practices that enable them to improve certain areas of patient care, including chronic disease management. The PNIP supports an expanded and enhanced role for nurses in general practice in preventive health, chronic disease management and care coordination, while specific PIPs are available for managing asthma and diabetes. An evaluation of the PNIP program is currently underway.

These programs appear to be underutilised in OA management. A recent survey of GPs found that only 46 per cent prepared structured management plans for people with OA³ while only 29 per cent of nurses in general practice report providing arthritis education, assessment or management services.⁹¹

Stakeholder consultations held for this project highlighted the cost of accessing private allied health services and the limited availability of public services as major impediments to the effective care of people with OA. Access issues are exacerbated in rural and remote areas of Australia.

Inadequate funding for allied health services in both public and private sectors is an important barrier to accessing multidisciplinary care for OA, and needs to be addressed. In particular, only five Medicare-subsidised allied health visits per patient, per year are provided under the current Chronic Disease Management items. This is inadequate to address the number and variety of allied health visits that are typically required to support optimal care of OA patients.

4.2 Workforce

A recent survey of people with arthritis found that two in three were not faring well with their condition, and that their perceived standard of care, as well as poor access to specialists, GPs and allied health professionals, were key factors associated with how poorly they were faring.¹ GPs also reported that limited access to specialists and allied health practitioners was a major barrier to effective care of people with arthritis.³ Stakeholder consultations highlighted the need to educate and support GPs and other primary care practitioners to enable them to deliver better conservative management of OA in the early stages of the condition, including increased referrals to allied health practitioners. Many participants suggested that the time constraints faced by GPs meant they were not always in the best position to provide education and support to people with OA to help them self-manage their condition. They suggested that other practitioners, particularly nurses in general practice and physiotherapists, could take a more active role in the care and management of OA patients, in collaboration with GPs.

There is also scope to build a workforce of arthritis educators (similar to existing diabetes educators) supported by Medicare funding.

ⁱ Map of Medicine is a collection of evidence-based, practice-informed care maps that connect knowledge and services around a clinical condition and can be customised to reflect local needs and practices http://www.mapofmedicine.com/solution/whatisthemap/, viewed 27/10/2103

ⁱⁱ Health Pathways provides an online health information portal for primary care clinicians to use at the point of care; it also includes a guide to local resources. http://www.canterburyinitiative.org.nz/Home.aspx and http://www.hnehealth.nsw.gov.au/innovation_support/programs_for_20102011/ health_pathways, both viewed 27/10/2013

4. Australian health care environment

4.3 Services in regional and rural services

Access to appropriate services, particularly to publicly funded allied health services, is a particular problem in regional and rural areas of Australia. Access is also problematic for people with more advanced-stage disease who need to consult specialists, as most specialists are located in metropolitan areas.

Increasingly, outreach and telehealth services are being used in Australia to deliver specialist services in rural and remote areas, and evidence suggests that they may also be useful for certain allied health services.¹⁶⁰ As well as improving access to specialists in rural and remote areas, these services help to upskill local primary care practitioners, improve continuity in patient management, and reduce costs to patients and their families and the health system, through reductions in travel time to access care.¹⁶¹

Upskilling GPs, nurses, physiotherapists or other health practitioners in rural areas so that they are equipped to manage people with more advanced OA could also help to improve standards of care.

4.4 Disadvantaged groups

Special attention needs to be provided to the needs of CALD and other disadvantaged groups, including those with low health literacy. Information resources need to be made available in a range of languages, and the potential need for greater assistance with the coordination of care and support should be recognised. A culturally matched peer support program could also be considered.

5. Existing models of care for OA

5.1 The Chronic Care Model

The Chronic Care Model was developed in the mid-1990s to encourage high-quality care for a range of chronic diseases, health care settings and target populations.¹⁶² This model has been widely adopted in international and local initiativesⁱⁱⁱ to improve chronic disease management, and evaluations suggest that redesigning care protocols in line with its directives generally improves patient care and outcomes, although evidence regarding cost-effectiveness is still emerging.¹⁶³

The model summarises the basic elements required for improving care in health systems at the community, organisational, practice and patient levels so as to provide proactively managed, integrated care. These elements include support for self-management, delivery system design, decision support, and clinical information systems, such as patient registers and recall and reminder systems.



The Chronic Care Model

Improved Outcomes

Figure 2: The Chronic care model

Source: http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/index. php?p=Chronic+Care+Model&s=124

It is not clear to what extent these principles are used in Australia for the care of people with OA, or with other forms of arthritis; however, a range of tools, such as cdmNet,¹⁶⁴ which includes guidelines for OA management, are available to health care providers to support them in implementing the model in primary care.

5.2 Osteoarthritis Hip and Knee Service (OAHKS), Victoria

The OAHKS program aims to improve coordination of the management of people with hip and/or knee OA, and prioritise those on outpatient and elective surgery waiting lists according to clinical need.

OAHKS incorporates a multidisciplinary musculoskeletal clinic staffed by a musculoskeletal coordinator and other practitioners, such as rheumatologists, general practitioners, nurse practitioners and/or orthopaedic surgeons. Individuals are prioritised for surgery using a specially designed tool, and those who do not yet require surgery are offered conservative management interventions.

OAHKS also aims to coordinate optimal communication between referring GPs, allied health services, waiting list managers and surgeons.

5.3 Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program Model of Care, New South Wales

The Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program Model of Care (OACCP) is a multidisciplinary model of care for people with hip and/or knee OA, many of whom are awaiting elective joint replacement surgery. The aim of the program is to help people to manage their symptoms while they await surgery by offering them conservative management interventions, including participation in programs for weight loss and exercise, with a view to delaying or avoiding surgery. The program also provides for escalation to surgery, with those most in need of it given priority.

As part of the program, a musculoskeletal coordinator, in conjunction with a multidisciplinary team, assesses individuals and links them with relevant team members, who then provide care in accordance with the individual's needs.

Key elements of the program include self-management, exercise, weight loss, psychological management, pharmacologic assessment and disease management education.

Currently the program is being piloted at seven sites across NSW. Initial results indicate that 13 per cent of participants with knee OA have been removed from elective joint replacement surgery waiting lists because as a result of participating in the program, they no longer require surgery.

^{III} Some Australian examples include the Flinders Program[™] developed in South Australia (see http://www.flinders.edu.au/medicine/sites/fhbhru/selfmanagement.cfm) and the Integrated Chronic Disease Management Program in Victoria (see http://www.health.vic.gov.au/pch/icdm/)

5. Existing models of care for OA

5.4 Orthopaedic Physiotherapy Screening Clinic and Multidisciplinary Service (OPSC & MDS)

This program provides early assessment and non-surgical active management to suitable patients referred to most specialist orthopaedic outpatient clinics throughout Queensland.

All referrals to the orthopaedic outpatient departments are triaged and then assessed for suitability for the OPSC & MDS clinic. This clinic is led by an experienced musculoskeletal physiotherapist who provides early assessment and acts as a case manager for people referred to the service. The clinic is supported by a designated multidisciplinary team that typically includes a physiotherapist, an occupational therapist, a psychologist and a dietician.

A person attending the clinic undergoes a comprehensive assessment by the musculoskeletal physiotherapist, who then designs an individualised management plan that incorporates interventions from members of the team as necessary. Patients' progress is monitored and, if their condition warrants it, they are referred on to an orthopaedic consultant.

Implementing this service at multiple sites within Queensland Health has resulted in reduced waiting times for patients, very good clinical outcomes, and very high satisfaction rates from patients, referrers and consultants.¹⁶⁵

5.5 Service Model for Communitybased Musculoskeletal Health in Western Australia, Department of Health, WA⁶

The recently launched service model for community-based musculoskeletal health in Western Australia sets out details for establishing community-based multidisciplinary clinics to provide integrated and coordinated care for people with complex or chronic conditions such as inflammatory arthritis.

The clinics would be based in a range of community locations including GP clinics, Medicare Locals, community health centres, non-tertiary hospitals, non-government organisations (e.g. Arthritis and Osteoporosis WA) and Aboriginal medical services. Access would be by referral from GPs or other primary health professionals.

The clinics would provide assessment, triage and referral services in addition to clinical services, for people with musculoskeletal conditions. Service coordinators would provide coordination of care, links with referring GPs, and coordinated telehealth services for rural consumers and health professionals.

5.6 UK Department of Health Musculoskeletal Services Framework (2006)

The UK Department of Health's Musculoskeletal Services Framework outlines a model of care for these conditions in which multidisciplinary musculoskeletal clinics provide the interface between primary care and hospitalbased care. These clinics provide a one-stop shop for assessment, diagnosis, treatment or referral to other specialists.

The emphasis is on holistic care, offered as close to home as possible, that addresses the psychological, social and physiological needs of people with these conditions. It draws on three main approaches to caring for people with these conditions: case management, disease management and supported self-care.¹⁶⁶

So far, however, implementation of the model outlined in the UK framework has been limited.¹⁶⁷ Initial reports of a two-year pilot of the model commenced in Northern England in 2011 show that episodes of care increased by 62 per cent but overall expenditure was reduced, while the average cost per episode of care fell by 41%. The pilot se rvice was very well received by both patients and GPs.¹⁶⁸

6. Stakeholder consultations

A series of stakeholder consultations that included people with arthritis, carers, medical practitioners, nurses, allied health workers and researchers, was held across Australia with the aim of identifying key issues and priorities to be addressed as part of the Time to Move: Arthritis strategy.

The key issues raised in relation to OA were:

- the need to address misconceptions on the part of the community and health professionals that OA is an inevitable part of ageing, about which nothing can be done;
- lack of community, health care professional and policymaker awareness of the impact of OA on people living with the condition, and trivialisation of the condition;
- lack of recognition of the health care costs to individuals with OA, and the cost of OA to the community in terms of lost productivity, increased need for hospital services, and treatment costs;
- lack of awareness about ways to prevent OA and strategies to address primary prevention;
- lack of information, education and support for people with OA who are attempting to self-manage their condition;
- the importance of lifestyle modification in managing OA at all stages;
- lack of a consistent gold standard for the care of people with OA;
- the need to educate GPs about how best to manage OA, especially through encouraging lifestyle changes, and the role of allied health professionals in this process;
- the need to improve management of OA at all stages of the condition and in particular, to increase the uptake of conservative management options such as weight loss and exercise;
- lack of access to and costs associated with using allied health services, limited access to publicly funded allied health services and the inadequacy of coverage for private services through Medicare and private health insurance;
- lack of a coordinated multidisciplinary approach to managing OA in primary care, lack of communication between health care professionals, and fragmentation of services;
- inequity of access to services, particularly to publicly funded services, especially in rural areas;
- problems in reaching people from CALD backgrounds, and a lack of uptake of service in these communities;

- inappropriate referrals to surgery without first offering conservative therapy; and
- waiting lists for elective surgery, and the need to triage patients to enable more efficient use of surgery time.

Solutions suggested included:

- adopting a national approach to OA prevention;
- working to increase awareness of and education about OA at all levels, including by the community, GPs, allied health professionals and government bodies;
- creating algorithms for GPs to improve early diagnosis and treatment of OA;
- providing improved information, education, and support for self-management to people with OA;
- utilising nurses as patient educators and care coordinators;
- improving access to allied health professionals;
- increasing conservative management approaches to OA, especially lifestyle modification (exercise and weight loss);
- establishing centres of excellence for the management of OA;
- facilitating improved access to multidisciplinary care including, for example, a one-stop shop or musculoskeletal hub affording access to all relevant health care professionals (rheumatologists, orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists, dieticians, nurses, occupational therapists and imaging technicians); and
- establishing triage clinics and pre-surgery diversion to support the conservative management of OA.

7. Conclusion

There is substantial scope to deliver improved and more equitable care for people with OA in Australia, by increasing the uptake of conservative management across all stages of the condition, improving access to coordinated multidisciplinary care for more advanced and complex cases, and providing timely and equitable access to joint replacement surgery when conservative therapies no longer provide relief.

The objectives of the national model of care will be to deliver the following key elements of care for people with OA:

- primary prevention of OA through population based strategies, to promote healthy lifestyles, reduce overweight and obesity, and prevent joint injury;
- early diagnosis of people with OA and advice regarding conservative management therapies, including exercise, weight loss and self-management, in primary care;
- the provision of appropriate information, education and support for self-management for people with OA at all stages of the condition;
- access to programs that support physical activity and weight loss according to individual needs;
- access to evidence-based non-pharmacological and pharmacological therapies in line with individual needs;
- access to integrated, coordinated multidisciplinary team care, delivered in community-based multidisciplinary arthritis clinics by appropriately skilled practitioners, for more complex and advanced cases;
- effective ongoing management, including the management of comorbidities;
- timely and equitable access to appropriate surgery; and
- access to appropriate disability support services in line with individual needs.

8. Recommendations

1. Develop and implement strategies to increase awareness and understanding of OA, including opportunities for prevention and improved management of the condition, by the public, health professionals and policymakers

2. Develop and implement strategies to support the prevention of OA

- 2.1 Work with organisations active in the prevention of obesity and chronic disease, and those delivering healthy lifestyle, physical activity and sporting programs, to incorporate messaging and programs that relate to the prevention and management of OA
- 2.2 Work with sporting organisations to implement a national sports injury prevention program

3. Support improved management and continuity of care for people with OA in primary care

- 3.1 Develop and implement education, information and incentive strategies for GPs and other primary care practitioners to promote conservative management (especially exercise and weight loss) for people with OA
- 3.2 Increase the utilisation of nurses in general practice, physiotherapists and pharmacists to support ongoing management and continuity of care for people with OA, including education and support for self-management
- 3.3 Work with Medicare Locals to build local workforce capacity and develop local referral pathways for access to effective communitybased lifestyle counselling, exercise and weight loss programs
- 3.4 Develop and/or promote existing tools (e.g. cdmNet, Health Pathways, Map of Medicine) to improve access for GPs and other health practitioners to information and resources that support appropriate diagnosis and management of OA, provide referral pathways, and include guides to local services
- 3.5 Prepare and promote a joint position statement from stakeholder organisations on the use of arthroscopies in the diagnosis and management of OA, in both clinician and consumer versions

4. Improve information, education and support for people with OA to assist them in self-managing their condition

- 4.1 Develop a comprehensive information package and tools to help people with OA better understand their condition and its treatment, navigate their way around available services and coordinate their own care
- 4.2 Promote the referral of people with OA to MyJointPain.org.au and state and territory arthritis organisations for access to information resources, self-management education and peer support groups
- 4.3 Tailor and adapt existing information resources and self-management courses to cater for the needs of specific groups, such as those from CALD backgrounds, and promote these through relevant organisations and community groups

5. Improve care and support for people at more advanced stages of disease and with more complex needs

- 5.1 In collaboration with Medicare Locals and other stakeholders, establish communitybased multidisciplinary arthritis clinics and teams to provide public and private services that incorporate orthopaedic triage and offer conservative management strategies
- 5.2 Develop system incentives/funding models to support the delivery of multidisciplinary care to people with OA in the private sector, including increasing access to Medicaresubsidised allied health visits under Chronic Disease Management items, in line with clinical requirements
- 5.3 Provide services in rural/underserviced areas through multidisciplinary outreach clinics, with additional support offered via telehealth services
- 5.4 Work with disability and aged care service providers and the NDIS to ensure appropriate access to programs and services that support independence and fuller participation in life for people with OA-related functional limitations
- 5.5 Undertake research into optimising patient selection and timing for joint replacement surgery, interventions to address poor prognostic factors and the most appropriate ways of managing the condition in people for whom surgery is unsuitable

9. Priorities and implementation

A number of areas have been identified by the Steering Committee as offering the greatest scope for reducing the burden of OA, and as being the most feasible to implement in the short term. These 'priority areas of action' include:

- implementation of a sports injury prevention program;
- strategies to improve continuity of care for people with OA in primary care, with an initial focus on increasing the utilisation of nurses in general practice;
- developing a joint position statement on arthroscopies for OA; and
- optimising patient selection and timing for joint replacement surgery.

Implementation of these recommendations will require collaboration between stakeholders across all sectors of the health system, as well as the aged care and disability sectors. Arthritis Australia will work with relevant stakeholders to encourage and support the implementation of the Time to Move strategy.

References

¹ Arthritis Australia, 2011. The Ignored Majority: The Voice of Arthritis 2011

² Runciman WB et al., 2012. CareTrack: assessing the appropriateness of health care delivery in Australia. Med J Aust 2012; 197(2): 100-105

³ Arthritis Australia, 2012. Whose Problem is it Anyway? The Voice of GPs on Arthritis 2012

⁴ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation Musculoskeletal Network, 2012. Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program Model of Care

⁵ National Health Priority Action Council (NHPAC), 2006. National Service Improvement Framework for Osteoarthritis, Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoporosis. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Canberra

⁶ Department of Health, Western Australia, 2013. Service model for community-based musculoskeletal health in Western Australia. Perth: Health Strategy and Networks, Department of Health, Western Australia

⁷ Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria, 2013. A problem worth solving. Elsternwick: Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria

⁸ Knox SA, Harrison CM, Britt HC, Henderson JV, 2008. Estimating prevalence of common chronic morbidities in Australia. *Med J Aust* 2008; 189 (2): 66-70

⁹ ABS National Health Survey 2007-08

¹⁰ Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2012. Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia 2009: Profiles of Disability

¹¹ Schofield DJ, Shrestha RN, Percival R, Passey M, Callander E, Kelly S, 2013. The personal and national costs of lost labour force participation due to arthritis: an economic study. *BMC Public Health* 2013; 13:18822

¹² Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2012. Australia's health 2012. Australia's health series no 13. Cat no AUS 156. Canberra, AIHW

¹³ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2009. Chronic disease and participation in work. Cat no PHE 109. Canberra, AIHW

¹⁴ AIHW, 2013. Osteoarthritis: health burden and work impacts of osteoarthritis. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/osteoarthritis/</u>, viewed 11/6/2013

¹⁵ National Joint Replacement Registry, viewed 1/5/2013 <u>https://aoanjrr.dmac.adelaide.edu.au/procedures-reported</u>; Average cost of joint replacements is \$25,000, based on public DRG costs for 2009–10, available at <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/</u> <u>Content/Round_14-cost-reports</u>

¹⁶ Neogi T, 2013. Epidemiology of Osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2013, February; 39(1): 1-19

¹⁷ Blagojevic M et al., *Risk factors for onset of osteoarthritis of the knee in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis*. Osteoarthritis And Cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society, 2010; 18(1): 24-33

¹⁸ Arthritis Research Campaign, 2009. Osteoarthritis and Obesity. UK. 6301/OBES-REP/09-1

¹⁹ Messier SP, Gutekunst DJ et al., 2005. Weight loss reduces knee-joint loads in overweight and obese older adults with knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*; 52(7): 2026-2032

²⁰ Muthuri SG, Hui M et al., 2011. What if we prevent obesity? risk reduction in knee osteoarthritis estimated through a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Arthritis Care & Research*; 63(7): 982-990

²¹ March LM, Bagga H, 2004. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis in Australia. Medical Journal of Australia; 180: S6-S10

²² Jiang L, Rong J, Wang Y, Hu F, Bao C, Li X, Zhao Y. The relationship between body mass index and hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Joint Bone Spine* 2011, Mar; 78(2):150-5.

²³ Carman WJ, Sowers M, Hawthorne VM, Weissfeld LA. Obesity as a risk factor for osteoarthritis of the hand and wrist: a prospective study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 139:119-129

²⁴ Access Economics, 2008 .The growing costs of obesity in 2008

²⁵ Wang Y, Wluka AE, Simpson JA, Giles GG, Graves SE, de Steiger RN, Cicuttini FM. Body weight at early and middle adulthood, weight gain and persistent overweight from early adulthood are predictors of the risk of total knee and hip replacement for osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2013, Feb 4.

²⁶ Liu B, Balkwill A, Banks E, Cooper C, Green J, Beral V. Relationship of height, weight and body mass index to the risk of hip and knee replacements in middle-aged women. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2007; 46(5):861-7.

²⁷ Ravi B et al., 2012. The changing demographics of total joint arthroplasty recipients in the United States and Ontario from 2001 to 2007. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology* 2012; 26: 637-647

²⁸ Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013. Australian Health Survey: Updated Results, 2011–2012. Cat no 4364.0.55.003

²⁹ National Preventative Health Taskforce. *Australia: The Healthiest Country by 2020 – National Preventative Health Strategy – the roadmap for action.* Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia, 2009

³⁰ Vos T, Carter R, Barendregt J et al. Assessing Cost-Effectiveness in Prevention. ACEPrevention, September 2010.

³¹ Commonwealth of Australia 2010. Taking Preventative Action – A Response to Australia: The Healthiest Country by 2020 – The Report of the National Preventative Health Taskforce

³² Anandacoomarasamy et al., 2012. Weight loss in obese people has structure-modifying effects on medial but not on lateral knee arthicular cartilage. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2012; 71(1): 26-32

³³ Felson DT, Zhang Y, Anthony JM, Naimark A, Anderson JJ, 1992. Weight loss reduces the risk for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in women. The Framingham Study. *Ann Intern Med* 1992; 116(7):535-9

³⁴ Medibank Private, 2006. Safe sports report. <u>http://www.theage.com.au/ed_docs/sport.pdf</u>, viewed 15/05/2013

³⁵ Felson DT, Lawrence RC, Dieppe PA, Hirsch R, Helmick CG, Jordan JM et al. Osteoarthritis: new insights. Part 1: the disease and its risk factors. [Review] [120 refs] *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2000, Oct 17; 133(8):635-46.

³⁶ Gelber AC, Hochberg MC, Mead LA, Wang NY, Wigley FM, Klag MJ. Joint injury in young adults and risk for subsequent knee and hip osteoarthritis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2000, Sep 5;133(5):321-8

³⁷ Lohmander LS, Englund PM, Dahl LL, Roos EM, 2007. The long-term consequences of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: osteoarthritis. *Am J Sports Med* 2007, Oct; 35(10):1756-69

³⁸ Hunter DJ, 2011. Lower extremity osteoarthritis management needs a paradigm shift. Br J Sports med 2011; 45:283-288

³⁹ Friel NA, Chua CR, 2013. The role of ACL injury in the development of posttraumatic knee osteoarthritis. Clin Sports Med 2013 Jan;32(1): 1-12

⁴⁰ Janssen KW, Orchard JW, Driscoll TR, van Mechelen W, 2011. High incidence and costs for anterior cruciate ligament reconstructions performed in Australia from 2003-04 to 2007-08: time for an anterior cruciate ligament register by Scandinavian model? *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2011 Jan 7

⁴¹ Finch C, Cassell E, 2006. The public health impact of injury during sport and active recreation. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*; 9(6); 490-497

⁴² National Arthritis and Musculoskeletal Conditions Advisory Group (NAMSCAG), 2004. Evidence to Support the National Action Plan for Osteoarthritis, Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoporosis: Opportunities to Improve Health-Related Quality of Life and Reduce the Burden of Disease and Disability. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra.

⁴³ Sadoghi P, von Keudell A, Vavken P, 2012. Effectiveness of anterior cruciate ligament injury prevention training programs. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2012; 94:1-8.

⁴⁴ Myklebust G Myklebust, Skjølberg A, et al., 2013. ACL injury incidence in female handball 10 years after the Norwegian ACL prevention study: important lessons learned. British Journal of Sports Medicine Epub ahead of publication. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091862

⁴⁵ http://f-marc.com/11plus/home/, Viewed 15/5/2013

⁴⁶ Soligard T, Nilstad A, et al., 2010. Compliance with a comprehensive warm-up programme to prevent injuries in youth football. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*; 44: 787-793.

⁴⁷ http://www.monash.edu.au/miri/research/research-areas/home-sport-and-leisure-safety/acrisp/index.html, viewed 15/5/2013

⁴⁸ The Bone and Joint Decade 2010. Sports Injury is Preventable

49 http://www.bjd.org.au/

⁵⁰ Medibank Private, 2006. Safe sports report. <u>http://www.theage.com.au/ed_docs/sport.pdf</u>, viewed 15/05/2013.

⁵¹ Palmer KT, 2012. Occupational activities and osteoarthritis of the knee. Br Med Bull 2012, Jun; 102:147-70

⁵² McWilliams DF, Leeb BF, Muthuri SG, Doherty M, Zhang W. Occupational risk factors for osteoarthritis of the knee: a meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2011, Jul; 19(7):829-39

References

⁵³ Andersen S, Thygesen LC, Davidsen M, Helweg-Larsen K, 2012. Cumulative Years in Occupation and the Risk of Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis in Men and Women: A Register-based Follow-up Study. *Occup Environ Med* 2012; 69(5):325-330

⁵⁴ Felson D, Zhang Y, 1998. An update on the epidemiology of knee and hip osteoarthritis with a view to prevention. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*; 41: 1343-1355

⁵⁵ Safe Work Australia, 2011. Hazardous Manual Tasks Code of Practice <u>http://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/sites/SWA/about/Publications/</u> <u>Documents/640/COP_Hazardous_Manual_Tasks.pdf</u>

⁵⁶ Reavley N, Livingston J, Buchbinder R, Osborne R, 2012. Identifying and understanding the concerns of business: a systematic approach to the development of the Australian WorkHealth Program- Arthritis. *J Health Serv Res Policy*; 17 (3): 164-172

⁵⁷ Australian Safety and Compensation Council, 2006. Work-related musculoskeletal disease in Australia. April 2006

⁵⁸ Safe Work Australia. National Hazard Exposure Worker Surveillance: Exposure to biomechanical demands, pain and fatigue symptoms and the provision of controls in Australian workplaces

⁵⁹ O'Connell Advisory, 2012. Better Arthritis and Osteoporosis Care Initiative Scoping Study

⁶⁰ Anderson LM, Quinn TA, Glanz K, Ramirez G, Kahwati LC, Johnson DB et al. The effectiveness of worksite nutrition and physical activity interventions for controlling employee overweight and obesity: a systematic review. *Am J Prev Med* 2009, Oct; 37(4):340-57

⁶¹ Personal communication, Richard Osborne, University of Melbourne

⁶² Access Economics, 2007. Painful Realities: The economic impact of arthritis in Australia in 2007

⁶³ Chapman K, Valdes AM, 2012. Genetic factors in OA pathogenesis. Bone 2012, Aug; 51(2): 258-64

⁶⁴ Ganz R, Leunig M, Leunig-Ganz K, Harris WH, 2008. The etiology of osteoarthritis of the hip: an integrated mechanical concept. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2008; 466:264-272

⁶⁵ Patraa D, Sandella L, 2011. Recent advances in biomarkers in osteoarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 2011; 23(5):465-470

⁶⁶ Hunter DJ, Neogi T, Hochberg MC, 2011. Quality of osteoarthritis management and the need for reform in the US. *Arthritis Care and Research*; 63(1): 31-38

⁶⁷ Hunter DJ, Guermazi A, 2012. Imaging techniques in osteoarthritis. PM R 2012 May; 4(5 Supp): S68-74

⁶⁸ Medical Benefits Reviews Task Group, 2012. Review of funding for diagnostic imaging services: final report. <u>http://www.health.</u> <u>gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/2D742767DFE3A046CA25762D000A1497/\$File/Review%20of%20Funding%20of%20</u> <u>Diagnostic%20Imaging%20-%20Final%20Report.pdf</u>, viewed 13/6/2013

⁶⁹ Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Pan Y, Valenti L, Harrison C, O'Halloran J, Zhang C, Fahridin S. *General practice activity in Australia 2010–11*. General practice series no. 29. Sydney: Sydney University Press, 2011.

⁷⁰ Kwoh C, Kent, Hannon, Michael J, Green, Stephanie M, Guermazi, Ali, Boudreau, Robert M. A Screening Tool for Knee Osteoarthritis [abstract]. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011; 63 Suppl 10:2079

⁷¹ Roux CH, Saraux A, Mazieres B, Pouchot J, Morvan J, Fautrel B, Testa J, Fardellone P, Rat AC, Coste J, Guillemin F, Euller-Ziegler L 2008. Screening for hip and knee osteoarthritis in the general population: predictive value of a questionnaire and prevalence estimates. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2008, Oct; 67(10): 1406-11. Epub 2007 Dec 12.

⁷² Roux CH, Saraux A, Mazieres B, Pouchot J, Morvan J, Fautrel B, Testa J, Fardellone P, Rat AC, Coste J, Guillemin F, Euller-Ziegler L, 2008. Screening for hip and knee osteoarthritis in the general population: predictive value of a questionnaire and prevalence estimates. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2008, Oct; 67(10):1406-11. Epub 2007, Dec 2012

⁷³ O'Reilly S, Johnson S, Doherty S, Muir K, Doherty M, 1999. Screening for hand osteoarthritis (OA) using a postal survey. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 1999, Sep; 7(5):461-5

⁷⁴ Brand CA, Ackerman IN, Bohensky MA, Bennell KL, 2013. Chronic Disease Management. A review of current performance across quality of care domains and opportunities for improving osteoarthritis care. *Rheum Dis Clin N Am*; 39 (2-13): 123-143

⁷⁵ Pinto D, Robertson MC, Hansen P, Abbott JH. Cost-effectiveness of nonpharmacologic, nonsurgical interventions for hip and/or knee osteoarthritis: systematic review. Value in *Health* 15 (2012); 1-12

⁷⁶ Segal L, Day S, Chapman A et al. Can we reduce disease burden from osteoarthritis? An evidence-based priority-setting model. *Med J Aust* 2004; 180(5): S11-7

⁷⁷ Personal communication from Professor David Hunter in relation to the NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program

⁷⁸ Gordon B, 2011. OAHKS – a multidisciplinary model to manage chronic disease. <u>http://docs.health.vic.gov.au/docs/</u> <u>doc/58F96AF2790DD83CCA25791100144619/\$FILE/oahksforum_b-gordon.pdf</u>

⁷⁹ Marra CA, Cibere J, Grubisic M, Grindrod KA, Gastonguay L, Thomas JM, Embley P, Colley L, Tsuyuki RT, Khan KM, Esdaile JM. Pharmacistinitiated intervention trial in osteoarthritis: a multidisciplinary intervention for knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res* (Hoboken) 2012, Dec; 64(12):1837-45. doi: 10.1002/acr.21763

⁸⁰ World Health Organization, 2002. Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions: Building Blocks for Action. WHO, Geneva

⁸¹ National Health Priority Action Council, 2006. *National Chronic Disease Strategy*. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Canberra

⁸² Wilkinson A, Whitehead L. Evaluation of the concept of self-care and implications for nurses: a literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2009; 46: 1143-1147

⁸³ Warsi A, LaValley MP, Wang PS, Avorn J, Solomon DH. Arthritis self-management education programs: a meta-analysis of the effect on pain and disability. *Arthritis Rheum* 2003; 48:2207e13

⁸⁴ Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, 2009. Guideline for the non-surgical management of hip and knee osteoarthritis

⁸⁵ Zhang W et al., 2008. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* (2008); 16:137-162

⁸⁶ Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT et al., American College of Rheumatology, 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. *Arthritis Care Res* 2012; 64(4):455-474

⁸⁷ Osborne R, Wilson T, Lorig KR, McColl GJ, 2007. Does self-management lead to sustainable health benefits in people with arthritis? A 2-year transition study of 452 Australians. *J Rheumatol* May 2007; 34(5):1112-1117

⁸⁸ Brady TJ, 2012. Cost implications of self-management education intervention programmes in arthritis. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*; 26: 611-625

⁸⁹ Mazzuca SA et al. Reduced utilization and cost of primary care clinic visits resulting from self-care education for patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. *Arthritis Rheum* 1999; 42(6): 1267-1273

⁹⁰ National evaluation of the sharing health care demonstration projects. Final Report, June 2005. <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/</u>publishing.nsf/Content/B71197DF35CE8CD3CA2570BC00818001/\$File/shcitech.pdf

⁹¹ Australian Medicare Local Alliance, 2012. General Practice Nurse National Survey Report.

⁹² Ackerman IN, Buchbinder R, Osborne RH, 2013. Factors limiting participation in arthritis self-management programmes: an exploration of barriers and patient preferences within a randomised controlled trial. *Rheumatology* 2013; 52: 472-479

⁹³ Murphy L, Theis K, Brady T, Hootman J, Helmick C, Bolen J, et al. A health care provider's recommendation is the most influential factor in taking an arthritis self-management course: a national perspective from the arthritis conditions and health effects survey. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2009; 56(9): S307-S308

⁹⁴ Pitt VJ, O'Connor D, Green S, 2008. Referral of people with osteoarthritis to self-management programmes: barriers and enablers identified by general practitioners. *Disabil Rehabil* 208; 30(25): 1938-46

⁹⁵ http://www.arthritissa.org.au/news/health-services/arthritis-aware-pharmacy-program, viewed 22/11/2013

⁹⁶ Fransen M, McConnell S. Exercise for osteoarthritis of the knee. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008; Issue 4. Article no CD004376. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD004376.pub2.

⁹⁷ Bennell KL, Hinman RS. A review of the clinical evidence for exercise in osteoarthritis of the hip and knee. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 14, 2011; 4-9

⁹⁸ Roddy E, Zhang W, Doherty M, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the role of exercise in the management of osteoarthritis of the hip or knee – the MOVE consensus. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2005; 44(1):67–73

⁹⁹ Pisters MF, Veenhof C, Schellevis FG et al. Exercise adherence improving long term patient outcome in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip and/or knee. *Arthritis Care Res* 2010; 62(8):1087-94

References

¹⁰⁰ Wilcox S, DerAnanian C, Abbott J, et al. Perceived exercise barriers, enablers, and benefits among exercising and nonexercising adults with arthritis: results from a qualitative study. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006; 55: 616–27

¹⁰¹ Hootman JM, Murphy LB, Helmick CG, Barbour KE, 2011. Arthritis as a potential barrier to physical activity among adults with obesity – United States, 2007 and 2009. In *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 60(19): 614-7

¹⁰² Christensen R, Bartels EM, Astrup A, et al. Effect of weight reduction in obese patients diagnosed with knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 2007 Apr; 66(4):433–9.

¹⁰³ Christensen R, Astrup A, Bliddal H. Weight loss: the treatment of choice for knee osteoarthritis? A randomised trial. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2005 Jan; 13(1):20-7

¹⁰⁴ National Health and Medical Research Council, 2013. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of overweight and obesity in adults, adolescents and children in Australia. Melbourne: National Health and Medical Research Council

¹⁰⁵ Eakin EG, Lawler SP, Vandelanotte C, Owen N. Telephone interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change: a systematic review. *Am J Prev Med* 2007, May; 32(5): 419-34

¹⁰⁶ Graves N, Barnett AG, Halton KA, Veerman JL, Winkler E et al., 2009. Cost-Effectiveness of a Telephone-Delivered Intervention for Physical Activity and Diet. *PLoS ONE*; 4(9): e7135. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007135

¹⁰⁷ ABS 2010 National Health survey: Summary of results 2007-2008 (Reissue)

¹⁰⁸ <u>http://www.aci.health.nsw.gov.au/</u><u>data/assets/pdf_file/0005/168800/The-Osteoarthritis-Chronic-Care-Program-Implementing-the-</u><u>Evidence.pdf</u>

¹⁰⁹ Brakke R, Singh J, Sullivan W, 2012. Physical therapy in persons with osteoarthritis. PM R 2012 May; 4 (5 Suppl):S53-8

¹¹⁰ Page CJ, Hinman RS, Bennell KL 2011. Physiotherapy management of knee osteoarthritis. Int J Rheum Dis 2011 May; 14(2): 145-51

¹¹¹ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010. Use of health services for arthritis and osteoporosis. Arthritis series no 14. Cat no PHE 130. Canberra: AIHW

¹¹² Jan S, Essue B, Leeder SR, 2012. Falling through the cracks. The hidden economic burden on households of chronic illness and disability in Australia. *MJA* 2012; 196(1):29-31

¹¹³ Warmington K, 2011. The early impact of Advanced Clinician Practitioner in Arthritis Care program-trained extended role practitioners on the Ontario healthcare system: a system-level evaluation. <u>http://www.stmichaelshospital.com/pdf/programs/acpac-executive-summary.pdf</u>, viewed 16/11/2013

¹¹⁴ http://www.health.qld.gov.au/rbwh/services/physio.asp#musculoskeletal and http://fhn.org.au/assets/Resources/GPLO/OPSC_GP_Info.pdf, viewed 20/11/2013

¹¹⁵ Zhang W, Nuki G, Moskowitz RW, Abramson S, Altman RD, Arden NK, Bierman-Ziestra S, Brandt KD, Croft P, Doherty M, Dougados M, Hochberg M, Hunter DJ, Kwoh K, Lomander LS, Tugwell P, 2010. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis Part III: changes in evidence following systematic cumulative update of research published through January 2009. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 18, 2010; 476-499

¹¹⁶ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010. A snapshot of arthritis in Australia 2010. Arthritis series no 13. Cat no PHE 126. Canberra: AIHW

¹¹⁷ Rahme E, Barkun A, et al., 2008. Hospitalizations for upper and lower GI events associated with traditional NSAIDs and acetaminophen among the elderly in Quebec, Canada. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*; 103(4): 872-882.

¹¹⁸ AIHW Osteoarthritis, 2013. Medications used to manage osteoarthritis. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/osteoarthritis/medications</u>, viewed 2/7/2013 *Medical Journal of Australia*; 197 (7): 399-403

¹¹⁹ ABS 2010 National Health survey: Summary of results 2007-2008 (Reissue)

¹²⁰ Bishop FL, Yardley L, Lewith GT. A systematic review of beliefs involved in the use of complementary and alternative medicine. *J Health Psychol* 2007; 12: 851-867

¹²¹ Arthritis Research UK, 2012. Complementary and alternative medicines for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis and fibromyalgia

¹²² Armstrong AR, Thiebaut SP, Bron LJ, 2011. Australian adult use complementary and alternative medicine in the treatment of chronic illness: a national study. *ANZJPH* 2011; 35(4): 384-390

¹²³ AIHW, 2013. Hospitalisation and treatment of osteoarthritis. http://www.aihw.gov.au/osteoarthritis/hospital-treatment, viewed 8/7/2013

¹²⁴ Based on an average DRG cost of \$3551, from National Hospital Cost Data Collection Round 14 2009–10. <u>http://www.health.gov.au/</u> internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/Round_14-cost-reports_

¹²⁵ Harris IA, Madan NS, Naylor JM, Chong S Mittal R, Jalaludin B, 2013. Trends in knee arthroscopy and subsequent arthroplasty in an Australian population: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders* 2013, 14: 143

¹²⁶ Kirkley A, Birmingham TB, Litchfield RB et al. A randomized trial of arthroscopic surgery for osteoarthritis of the knee. *N Engl J Med* 2008; 359: 1097-1107.

¹²⁷ Moseley JB, O'Malley K, Petersen NJ, et al. A controlled trial of arthroscopic surgery for osteoarthritis of the knee. *N Engl J Med* 2002; 347: 81-8.

¹²⁸ Bohensky MA et al., 2012. Trends in elective knee arthroscopies in a population based cohort 2000-2009. *Medical Journal of Australia*; 197(7): 399-403

¹²⁹ Buchbinder R, Harris IA, 2012. Arthroscopy to treat osteoarthritis of the knee? MJA; 197(7): 364-5

¹³⁰ American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 2013. *Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the knee* (2nd Edition). <u>http://www.aaos.org/research/guidelineoAKnee.asp</u>

¹³¹ Caughey GE, Vitry AI, Gilbert AL, Roughead EE, 2008. Prevalence of comorbidity of chronic diseases in Australia. *BMC Public Health* 2008; 8: 221 doi

¹³² AIHW, 2010. When musculoskeletal conditions and mental disorders occur together. Bulletin 80, September 2010

¹³³ Leeder S et al., 2012. Findings: Optimising prevention and the management of care for Australians with serious and continuing chronic illness. Menzies Centre for Health Policy, The University of Sydney

¹³⁴ Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2006. National Health Survey 2004–05. Summary of Results. Cat no 4364.0

¹³⁵ Higashi H, Barendregt JJ. Cost-effectiveness of total hip and knee replacements for the Australian populations with osteoarthritis: discrete-event simulation mode. *PLoS ONE*; 6(9): e25403. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0025403

¹³⁶ Labek G, Thaler M, Janda W, Agreiter M, Stockl MD, 2011. Revision rates after total joint replacement: cumulative results from worldwide joint register datasets. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2011, Mar; 93-B (3): 293-297

¹³⁷ Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. Annual Report 2012. Adelaide: AOA; 2012

¹³⁸ AIHW, 2013. Hospital performance: waiting times for elective surgery. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/haag10-11/hospital-performance-elective-surgery-wait/</u>, viewed 4/7/2013

¹³⁹ <u>http://www.health.qld.gov.au/hospitalperformance/op-main.aspx?hospital=99999</u>, viewed 21/11/2013

¹⁴⁰ Department of Health, Western Australia. Elective Joint Replacement Service Model of Care. Perth: Health Networks Branch, Department of Health, Western Australia, 2010

¹⁴¹ http://www.health.vic.gov.au/oahks/background.htm, viewed 9/7/2013

¹⁴² Personal communication from Professor David Hunter in relation to the NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation Osteoarthritis Chronic Care Program

¹⁴³ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008. Elective surgery in Australia: new measures of access. Cat no HSE 57. Canberra, AIHW

¹⁴⁴ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation Musculoskeletal Network, 2012. NSW Evidence Review: Preoperative, perioperative and postoperative care of elective primary total hip and knee replacements

¹⁴⁵ Curtis AJ, Russell COH, Stoelwinder JU, McNeil JJ, 2010. Waiting lists and elective surgery: ordering the queue. MJA 2010; 192: 217–220

¹⁴⁶ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare and Royal Australasian College of Surgeons, 2013. National definitions for elective surgery urgency categories: proposal for the Standing Council on Health. July 2013

¹⁴⁷ RACGP, 2007. Referral for Joint Replacement: A management guide for health providers. <u>http://www.racgp.org.au/download/</u> <u>documents/Guidelines/Musculoskeletal/referral_for_joint_replacement_2008.pdf</u>

¹⁴⁸ Department of Health, Victoria, Australia. Osteoarthritis Hip and Knee service. <u>http://www.health.vic.gov.au/oahks</u>

References

¹⁴⁹ South Australia Health, 2008. Arthroplasty demand and allocation management (ADAM) Proposal. <u>http://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/b970a080438409b0ad2dffbc736a4e18/ADAM_proposal_November+2008.</u> pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=b970a080438409b0ad2dffbc736a4e18&CACHE=NONE

¹⁵⁰ Lim K, 2011. OAHKS: Reducing burden of disease through non-operative care. <u>http://docs.health.vic.gov.au/docs/doc/</u> DF4E36046D86B058CA2579110014BBF8/\$FILE/oahksforum_k.lim.pdf

¹⁵¹ NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation, 2013. Interim report: system wide fiscal and utilization analysis: the osteoarthritis chronic care program

¹⁵² Dieppe P, Lim K et al., 2011. Who should have knee joint replacement surgery for osteoarthritis? *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*; 14: 175-180

¹⁵³ Wylde V, Blom AW, Whitehouse SL, Taylor AH, Pattison GT, Bannister GC. Patient reported outcomes after total hip and knee replacement: comparison of mid-term results. *J Arthroplasty* 2009; 24(2): 210-216

¹⁵⁴ Clement ND. Patient factors that influence the outcome of total knee replacement: A critical review of the literature. *OA Orthopaedics* 2013 Aug 01; 1(2):11

¹⁵⁵ Dowsey MM, Choong PFM, 2013. *Predictors of pain and function following total joint replacement. Arthroplasty – Update*. Prof Plamen Kinov (Ed), ISBN: 978-953-51-0995-2, InTech, DOI: 10.5772/53245. Available from: <u>http://www.intechopen.com/books/arthroplasty-update/</u> predictors-of-pain-and-function-following-total-joint-replacement

¹⁵⁶ Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2010. Australia's health 2010. Australia's health series no. 12. Cat. no. AUS 122. Canberra: AIHW

¹⁵⁷ Goss J 2008. Projection of Australian health care expenditure by disease, 2003 to 2033. Cat. no. HWE 43. Canberra: AIHW

¹⁵⁸ http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycare-chronicdiseasemanagement, viewed 14/1/2014

¹⁵⁹ http://www.medicareaustralia.gov.au/provider/incentives/pip/, viewed 14/1/2014

¹⁶⁰ Raven M, Bywood P, 2013. *Allied health video consultation services. PHC RIS Policy Issue Review*. Adelaide: Primary Health Care \$ Information Service

¹⁶¹ Health Policy Analysis, 2011. Evaluation of the Medical Specialist Outreach Assistance Program and the Visiting Optometrists Scheme – Final report (Volume 1). Department of Health and Ageing, Canberra

¹⁶² <u>http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/index.php?p=The_%20Chronic_Care_Model&s=2</u>, viewed 13/1/2014

¹⁶³ Coleman K, Austin BT, Brach C and Wagner EH, 2009. Evidence on the Chronic Care Model in the New Millennium. *Health Aff*, Jan-Feb; 28(1):75-85

¹⁶⁴ <u>http://precedencehealthcare.com/cdmnet/</u>

¹⁶⁵ <u>http://www.health.qld.gov.au/rbwh/services/physio.asp#musculoskeletal and http://fhn.org.au/assets/Resources/GPLO/OPSC_GP_Info.pdf</u>, viewed 20/11/2013

¹⁶⁶ Department of Health, UK, 2006. The musculoskeletal services framework. A joint responsibility: doing it differently. London, 2006

¹⁶⁷ Arthritis Care UK 2011 Get a grip: Making the case for a national strategy for musculoskeletal disease

¹⁶⁸ Wilkes G 2013. Modernising the musculoskeletal pathway. Health Services Journal 1 May 2013 <u>http://www.hsj.co.uk/home/innovation-and-efficiency/-modernising-the-musculoskeletal-pathway/5057531.article#.UvRbBqPNu73 viewed 7/2/12014</u>



P O Box 550 Broadway NSW 2007 www.arthritisaustralia.com.au